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report profile
Scope, Boundary and Reporting Cycle

this annual report (report) of south african Express soc limited, a state-owned company, provides an overview of the 

performance of the company for the period 1 april 2014 to 31 march 2015. it presents the mandate, strategy, governance, 

performance review and the future outlook of the company. it demonstrates how south african Express airways soc limited 

responded to stakeholders, risks, and opportunities in order to create sustainable economic, social and environmental value. 

this sa Express 2014/15 annual report, and the prior period’s annual report, which covered the period 1 april 2013 to 31 

march 2014, are available on the www.flyexpress.aero website.

the report is broadly divided into five sub-categories, namely:

 sa Express overview;

 internal controls and risk management;

 sustainability;

 corporate governance; and

 the financial statements.

all five categories are complementary and for ease of reference, cross-referencing is provided.

Reporting Principles

the content of this report is driven by matters that had the greatest potential to impact the airline’s operating economic and 

financial outlook. We considered a broad range of external and internal factors, including the outcome of various stakeholder 

engagement processes driving the integrated reporting process when deciding which issues are of the outmost importance 

to address.

the information included in this report aims to provide the state and all south africans at large with a good understanding 

of the significant economic, social and environmental risks and opportunities that the airline industry faces, in the short and 

medium term. it further demonstrates the unique response of the company in order to mitigate the risks and ensure the airline 

is regarded a sustainable entity. as a state-owned company, the airline’s ability to fulfill its dual mandate of commercial and 

developmental in the medium to long-term will be dependent on the ability of the airline to focus on creating sustainable value 

for its shareholder. 

furthermore, the report highlights the focus of the airline in reducing its carbon footprint and compliance with international 

emission standards. in addition, the report also attempts to explain sa Express to be a leader in transforming the sector 

through its concerted human capital focus such as the sa Express mach i and mach ii cadet pilot programmes.
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the report also addresses the targets that the airline compacted with the shareholder representative (department of public 

Enterprises) through the shareholder compact, which is referred to as a statement of predetermined objectives (pdo) which 

includes both financial and non-financial targets for the operation period under review. 

the annual financial statements were prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards (ifrs) and 

the financial reporting guides issued by the accounting practices committee. the reporting on sustainable development by 

the company is guided by the sustainability reporting guidelines of the global reporting initiative (gri), and undertaken 

in accordance with g3.1. the company has applied the majority of the principles contained in the King code of governance 

for south africa 2009 (King iii). the reporting on sustainable development by the company is guided, as well as the few 

instances of non-compliance, are recorded and explained in the King iii register of the company.

Our Stakeholders

the company as a state-owned company, reporting to the department of public Enterprise (dpE), is committed to the 

founding mandate of the airline and the preamble of the sa Express act of 2007. the mandate of the airline is to offer 

seamless air travel and offer connectivity to secondary and main airports whilst being a feeder airline to the national carrier, 

south african airways. in addition to domestic operations, the airline is to ensure connectivity and economic growth in the 

region, thus the commitment to operating to the five sadc countries (botswana, democratic republic of congo, namibia, 

Zambia, and Zimbabwe).

of principal importance is the commitment of the company to its stakeholders to conduct its business in a sustainable and 

responsible manner and to respond to their respective needs as entrenched in its core values. the nature of the business 

implies a close relationship with its stakeholders, who include - but are not limited to 

 customers who we fly, with a commitment to safe, secure and reliable service; 

	 our employees, who are responsible for ensuring the airline operates daily with a focus on safety and comfort;

	 its various suppliers, who form an integral part of the ability of the company to fly; and 

	 government regulatory and industry bodies, since the industry in which the company operates is subject to  

 extensive government and regulatory oversight; the south african public, who are our key shareholders.

 risk management.

the company follows a comprehensive and integrated risk management process where the identification and management of 

risk forms part of the Executive management business plan. the board, through the audit & risk sub-committee of the board, 

actively monitors this process.

Significant Events during the Reporting Period

no significant changes regarding the size of the company,  structure or ownership occurred during the reporting period compared 

to previous financial years. hence there are no significant changes from previous reporting periods in the scope, boundary, 

or measurement methods applied in this report.

External Audit and Assurance

the annual financial statements on pages 88 to 137 were audited by independent external auditors, 

the auditor general of south africa (agsa), in accordance with international standards of auditing.
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a sustainable, integrated 
regional airline connecting 
secondary and main airports

Our Purpose
a world-class regional airline with an 
extensive footprint in africa

Our Vision

Our Core
Values

We never compromise on 
safety, no matter what

our customers are our 
most important investors

We partner with people 
across all operations

We deliver with speed without 
compromising on quality

We keep it
simple
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sa Express overview
the airline was founded on the eve of the new democratic 

south africa on 24th april 1994. the airline turned 21 this year 

and now operates a fleet of 24 aircraft. sa Express is a regional 

airline offering seamless connectivity between primary and 

secondary, domestic and regional destinations in south 

africa and southern africa. our objective is to provide the 

transportation of passengers, cargo and mail, air charters and 

other related aviation services, as well as to promote frequency 

of services on lower density routes; and to expand regional air 

services capability in the republic and to the african continent 

and surrounding islands. 

the improvement of intra-africa travel is aligned to the airlift 

strategy of the state, aiming to increase aviation’s contribution 

towards sustainable economic growth and job creation.

the flexibility and reliability presented by the airline’s “fact 

principle” (frequency, availability, competitive price and 

timing of flights), affords consumers and service providers a 

unique and convenient service. the fact principle enhances 

the country’s prospect as a preferred air travel destination and 

major trade and tourism capital.

our vision is supported by the airline’s aspirations and strategy 

and is underpinned by our core values and unique selling 

propositions that drive profitability. 

in pursuit of its mandate, sa Express aims to provide 

affordable air services within benchmarked standards. 

We continuously seek opportunities for growth and 

partnerships within the region, in order to expand our 

route network.

this annual report highlights the key achievements and 

opportunity to operationalise the strategy and vision of the 

airline.
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Financial Results 2014/15 2013/14

revenue r2.59bn r2.56bn

operating profit (loss) r15m (r25m)

net profit (loss) (132m) (r10m)

Key Financial Statistics

operating margin 1% (1%)

Operating Statistics

passengers carried 1.451m 1.496m

passenger load factors 64% 65%

Key results 2015
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passengers (millions) revenue (billions)

2015 20152014 2014

1,421.451
1,76

1,496
1,548 1,79

2013 2013

net profit/loss (millions)

-62,0
-132

-10

20142015 2013
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operational and performance highlights
load factors (%)

number of Employees otp (%)
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64% 64%

1127

1188 88%88% 88%

2013
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2014

2014 2014

2015

2013 2013

operating profit/loss (millions)

-55,5
-25.4

20132014

2015
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on-time performance (otp) - 2015
operational performance
sa Express has performed relatively consistent to the previous 

financial year in terms of its on-time performance (otp).

We have not achieved our internal target of 90% with an actual 

otp of 88%. the initial improvement in the first quarter of the 

year was influenced by management’s decision to change the 

schedule in line with the capability of the airline, including 

available equipment. We have also reviewed our processes, 

enhanced the system integrity and focused employee functional 

training in the operations control centre (occ). business 

processes have been aligned to the system and critical skills 

and staff resourcing have been addressed.

the change in schedule had a positive impact that saw the 

improvement of the average number of passengers per aircraft 

the average delays have been contained within a 30-minute 

time frame.

On-time Performance (OTP) - 2014/15 Operational Performance
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fleet facts
south african Express airways – facts and figures

Aircraft Type  CRJ 200 CRJ 700 DHC-8-Q400
model
number of aircraft in fleet

  cl-600-2b19
  10

 cl-600-2c10
 4

 402
  10

General Arrangement Dimensions
length – metres
span – metres
height – metres

 26.77
 21.21
 6.30

 32.33
 23.25

 7.51

 32.83
 28.42
 8.34

Operational Weight: 
max. taxi Weight
max. take-off Weight 
max. landing Weight
max. Zero fuel Weight
dry operating Weight

 23 247 kg
 23 133 kg
 21 319 kg
 19 958 kg

 ±14 470 kg

 34 109 kg
 33 995 kg
 30 391 kg
 28 259 kg

 ±20 472 kg

 29 347 kg
 29 257 kg

 28 009 kg
 25 855 kg

 ±17 755 kg

Aircraft Category  d  c  b

Fuel Capacity  6 858 kg  8 822 kg  5 318 kg

Number of Seats  50  70  74

Maximum Payload  5 488 kg  7 787 kg  8 100 kg

Engine model
take-off thrust 
-normal/automatic power res 
-normal/automatic power res

 gE cf34-3b1

 38.8/41.0 (kn)
 8 729 / 9 220 (lbf)

 gE cf34-8cb1

 55.2/60.0 (kn)
 12 418 / 13 489 (lbf)

 pW150a

 
 4 580 / 5 071 (shp)

Performance
fuel consumption at normal cruise 
speed kg/hr
cruise speed – mach/tas/km/hr
range at full pax load - nm

 ± 1 030
 

 0.70/420/778
 950

 ± 1 480
 

 0.78/460/850
 1 500

 ± 900
 

 320/590
 950
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the right fleet
for the region

SAX
20/20
Vision

harness tourist 
and business 
markets for 

future growth

introduction to the strategy: saX 20/20 Vision
the strategy is known as saX 20/20 as it stems from the airlines 20 years of existence and is also meant to address the sustainability of 

the airline over the next 20 years. in recent years, the airline experienced challenges and therefore embarked on a turnaround process; 

with this underway, the airline undertook the process of defining a transformed business model. the comprehensive strategy document, 

saX 20/20 Vision, crafted and submitted to the shareholders at the end of July 2013, aims at fulfilling the socio-political and economic 

goals of the airline while operating sustainably in a highly competitive and fragmented market.

Implementation of the Strategy
in keeping with continuously improving operational and financial performance of the entity sa Express management has embraced the saX 

20/20 Vision. the strategy continues to embody sa Express desired future outlook by addressing the following 5 key strategic objectives:

   to be a sustainable, well-managed and profitable regional airline

   to become a catalyst for key developmental state objectives, including the development of infrastructure, facilitation of trade, and   

 growth of the tourism industry. 

   to foster performance excellence through the development of people, skills and job-creation

   to provide consistent and efficient customer service

   to expand the airline’s services throughout africa

saX 20/20 Vision is a catalyst for fulfilling the socio-developmental and mandate of the airline while ensuring sustainability of operations in a 

highly competitive sector. 

SAX 20/20 Vision: A new business model
the strategy seeks to renew and define a vision strategy that will improve the sustainability of the organisation into the next 20 years.

  focussed on sustainability and unlocking growth through connectivity;

	 to become a catalyst for key developmental state objectives;

•	 (infrastructure development, tourism, business, economic impact);

 to be a sustainable regional airline on the continent;

 to achieve consistent and effective customer service; and

 to foster performance excellence through our people, skills and job creation.
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Opportunity statement: Journey to end state
sa Express seeks to unlock its potential for growth through innovation and quick-response-to -market needs. Working closely 
with saa can achieve this but should this not be achieved, then sa Express will review the code use agreement to ensure it 
achieves its mission of greater connectivity and innovation.

furthermore, the company is revitalising and extending the existing network and matching capacity to demand with the fleet 
choice; driving capital expansion. the environment is conducive to expansion into non-aviation subsidiaries; expansion of 
technical services as a critical additional revenue stream and evolving into a profit centre. the introduction of a revolutionary 
enterprise-wide risk-management system is apparent.

prospects are available for use of this capacity to provide a training incubator for the rest of the aviation industry, harnessing 
and improving people skills. sa Express guarantees additional capacity for existing transformation efforts in order to ensure 
that the airline is the first fully transformed airline.

Strategy implementation
the implementation is phased over a 20-year period with the aim of addressing the immediate, short term, medium term and 
long term implementation initiatives. as part of the implementation plan- the focus on cost containment and reduction are 
key deliverables of the short term phase of implementation. these are captured in the austerity measures which are a set of 
holistic and company-wide initiatives. 

 Short-Term: 1-3 years
 Medium-Term: 4-12 years
 Long-Term: 13-20 years

the implementation of the strategy is monitored and tracked through various deliverables; part of senior management’s balanced 
scorecards (bscs).

Austerity Measures 
cost reduction and avoidance are a core part of the short term implementation plan of the strategy sa Express seeks to ensure 
sustainable change in the cost structure of the company while maintaining, with the intention of improving, its performance. 
the company resumed negotiations with some of its key stakeholders, were quality is still guaranteed beyond the savings. this 
resulted in re-negotiations of already existing contracts for the upcoming financial year. in order to demonstrate the savings 
all known costs are annualized using the previous year’s expenditure, with the new discounted rates applied going forward to 
conclusion of the financial year. 

17



strategic intent
the intent of the transformed business model continues to be sa Express building a sustainable regional feeder airline. the 
saX 20/20 Vision strategy demonstrates how the airline intends to fulfil its vision and purpose by unlocking growth through 
connectivity and by delivering on the brand promise of “together We fly”.

Strategic objectives
in pursuance of its mandate, sa Express with the shareholder agree that the strategic objectives of sa Express are 
therefore headed and expressed as follows:

a) Strategic Role for South Africa
 i.  provide passenger, mail and cargo air services on a sustainable basis.
 ii.   assist in lowering the cost of doing business in south africa by providing strategic connectivity in the market and 

continuously seek opportunities for growth and partnerships within the southern african development community  
region (the region) in order to expand its route network.

b) Capital and financial efficiency
 i.  aim to strengthen its balance sheet by improving the gearing ratio.
 ii.  continue to improve sustainability by increasing the net cash position and net profit, based on the agreed  
  objectives.
 iii.  Ensure that the shareholder’s value expectation is met by enhancing the footprint of sa Express in the african  
  continent and ensuring that sa Express is geared for purpose-driven growth.
 iv.  continue to implement the cost saving and cost containment strategies.

c) Commercial and operational efficiency and effectiveness
 i.  continue to significantly improve its operating efficiency measured as on-time performance and effectiveness in  
  its processes.
 ii.  strive to create a high performance culture with the right people in the right jobs.

d) Co-operation and consolidation
 i.  pursue opportunities to leverage on the operations of other airlines by various means including code-sharing, 

space blocking and capacity sharing agreements and/or arrangements within the ambit of appropriate competition 
rules in order to develop routes and reduce fixed commitments to operational costs.

19



 ii.  co-operate with strategic airline partners in the region where operational costs and frequency of service with the 
gauge of aircraft operated by partner airlines is appropriate within the legal constraints applicable.

 iii.  agree and establish mutually beneficial commercial agreements and market-related co-operation with strategic 
airline partners.

e) Capital expenditure and new route development
 i.   Ensure that all capital expenditure and new route developments are supported on the basis of a business plan which 

includes a financial motivation and other criteria that may be applicable in the route selection. 

f)  Developmental Objectives
 i.  Job creation and skills transfer
  the parties acknowledge that the national development plan aims at reducing poverty by increasing the per capita  
  income from r50 000 (fifty thousand rand) in 2010 to r120 000 (one hundred and twenty thousand rand) by  
  2030 and to increase employment nationally from 13 (thirteen) million in 2010 to 24 (twenty-four) million by 2030.

     there is a growing local and international demand for scarce commercial, operational, managerial and 
technical skills; and

 
      the parties agree that sa Express shall develop a strategy to acquire, develop and retain the appropriate 

critical skills and support the development of training for the airline industry within the south african 
context and the envisaged regional secondary hubs.

 ii.   Environmental, health and safety issues
   sa Express is to conduct an annual environmental, health and safety audit to identify major areas of financial and  

operational risk and provide a plan to mitigate such issues in relation to all territories that sa Express operates in. 

 iii. Economic Value creation
    sa Express supports the creation of effective business processes and continuous assistance in the development of 

an economic context which promotes industrial competitiveness and financial growth in the economy.
 
 iv.  broad-based black Economic Empowerment 
    the parties acknowledge that broad-based black Economic Empowerment and business development is part of sa 

Express’ strategy. the parties agree that sa Express will endeavour to meet the targets agreed in the b-bbEE charter  
for the transport sector.

 v.  social Economic development
   the parties agree that sa Express shall participate in social Economic development (sEd) in order to uplift 

previously disadvantaged communities.
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celebrating 21 years in aviation

1994 
SA Express 
established 
by the Deloisse 
brothers
and Thebe 
Investments

South Africa’s
first
democratic 
election

1996 
SA Express
acquires
Comair 
routes 
including 
Skukuza, 
Richards 
Bay and 
Gaborone

2000
SA Express
appointed by 
government to 
collect Calli 
and Monique 
Strydom 
(freed by 
hostage 
takers)

The second 
National 
Democratic 
Election

2001
SA Express 
acquired by 
Transnet from 
Thebe  
Investments

The first world
conference 
(WCAR) held 
in Durban

2002
Boni Dibate 
becomes the 
first female CEO 
of a South 
African airline

Mark 
Shuttleworth 
becomes the 
first South 
African in 
space 2003

SA Express
commences 
operations
in Tanzania

The ICC 
Cricket 
World Cup is 
co-hosted by 
South Africa

2004
SA Express
celebrates 
10 years 
of service

The third
National 
Democratic 
Election

1997 
SA Express
introduces
CRJ 200
into the 
fleet

1998
Captain Aloma 
Stevens, First 
Officer Karen 
Croukamp, 
Cabin crew 
Annelise 
van Jaarsveld 
and Tuli 
Mocumi are 
the first all-
female crew

The TRC closes 
down after 2 
years of 
hearings

1994

1995 
Aloma 
Stevens 
becomes 
the first 
female captain 
of SA Express

The Rugby 
World Cup 
is staged in 
South Africa

1999
SA Express
commences
operations in
Eros, Windhoek.
SA Express
opens the Cape 
Town base

Robben Island
was declared a 
World Heritage 
site
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2005 SA Express
commences 
operations in 
Kruger 
Mpumalanga 
International 
Airport

The Southern 
African Large 
Telescope is
inaugurated
in the Karoo

2006
SA Express
signs for first 
Q400 aircraft

The 16th World 
Economic Forum
takes place in 
Cape Town

2007
SA Express 
receives 
Annual 
Reliability 
Award, named
Top Performing 
Company in the 
Public Sector

SA Express is 
transferred to 
the Department 
of Public
Enterprise

The Springboks 
beat England in 
the Rugby 
World Cup Final 
in Paris

2008
SA Express
nominated as one 
of the top 500 
Best Managed 
Companies

SA Express 
introduces 
CRJ 700 aircraft 
into the fleet

2009
SA Express 
awarded 
AFRAA Regional 
Airline of The Year 

SA Express 
receives Allied and 
Aviation Corporate 
Business Award

Nelson Mandela’s
91st birthday.
“Nelson Mandela 
International Day”
is adopted
by the United 
Nations

2010
SA Express
awarded 
Bombardier 
Reliability Award 
for Middle East 
and Africa

South Africa 
hosts the FIFA 
World Cup, 
commencing in 
a packed Soccer 
City, Johan-
nesburg and SA 
Express carries 
all the teams 
domestically.

2011
SA Express
receives 
Global Award 
for effective Brand 
Transformation

United Nations 
Framework 
Convention on 
Climate Change  
held in Durban

2012
SA Express
accredited by
Bombardier as its 
first Commercial 
Aircraft Authorised 
Facility in Africa

SA Express awarded 
route rights to fly 
from Durban to 
Lusaka and Durban to 
Harare

Announcement 
that the majority of 
the SKA telescope
to be built in 
South Africa 

2013
South Africa’s 
first democrati-
cally elected 
President
Nelson Mandela
passes away

2014
SA Express
celebrates 
its 20th year 
of success

The fourth
National 
Democratic 
Election
takes place

2015
SA Express
celebrates 
its 21st
anniversary 

2015
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GEORGE MOTHEMA 
Chairperson and Non-
Executive Director 
(Appointed 22 May 2015) 
holds a b proc degree and 
has extensive experience in 
corporate governance. 
he has held various 
governmental, legal and 
company secretariat 
executive positions 
including south african 
Express airways and 
south african airways. he 
has considerable board 
experience in the aviation 
and commuter transport 
sectors and was previously 
the chairperson of the 
board of south african 
post office.   

INATI NTSHANGA
CEO and Executive 
Director has been cEo 
since september 2010. 
prior to his current position, 
he was the general manager 
in charge of strategy and 
business development. 
before this he was also in 
charge of the commercial 
department, including 
airport operations. inati 
has over 15 years’ aviation 
experience, ranging 
from strategy, business 
development, project 
management, sales and 
marketing, including 
executive management roles 
at saa in strategy, airport 
operations, commercial. 
he also held senior 
leadership and executive 
positions at old mutual 
personal financial advice 
and was a consultant 
at bain & company. he 
holds a ba Economics 
(harvard), global Executive 
development and board 
leadership programme 
(gibs). he is a board 
member at ukuvula 
holdings and suikerkop 
lughawe (pty) ltd. he is 
the deputy chairperson also 
a member of the executive 
committee of aasa. he 
has served as first Vice 
chairman on the Executive 
committee of african 
airlines association for 3 
years.

MARK SHELLEY
CFO and Executive 
Director has run his own 
accounting and consulting 
practice for 10 years prior 
to joining sa Express. 
prior to that mark was 
a co-founder of an amo 
that provided technical 
maintenance services to 
regional carriers operating 
in central and West africa. 
before that mark was 
Vice president: finance 
at south african airways, 
responsible for the entire 
finance function, from 1998 
to 2005. he was the first 
representative from saa 
to hold a seat on the iata 
finance committee.
his previous jobs include 
senior finance manager 
positions at the spar group, 
tongaat foods and the 
chamber of mines of sa.
he holds a bcompt(hons)
(cta) from unisa as well as  
a ca(sa), and is a registered 
chartered accountant and 
auditor. 

board of directors

BONI DIBATE
Chairperson  Social and 
Ethics Committe 
holds a ba social science, 
an msc degree in clinical 
psychology, has completed 
the top management 
program for public 
Enterprises at singapore 
university, a senior 
Executive development 
program from harvard 
business school, an airline 
management integration 
program and a creative 
airline alliances and 
strategic partnerships 
certificate from Jordan. she 
has held various executive 
positions, including 
being cEo of Esselenpark 
centre of Excellence and 
south african Express 
airways. she was the 
chairperson of the tourism 
business council of sa and 
Eastgate airport, a board 
member of the university 
of pretoria, the president 
of the business Women 
association and is currently 
a director of dark fiber 
africa.   
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GIVEN SIBIYA
independent non-Executive 
director, 
Appointed-22 may2015. 
Qualifications- b.com, 
b.acc, post graduate 
diploma in accountancy 
ca(sa), registered assessor 
(saica) Quality assessor 
with iiasa (institute of 
internal auditors sa) 
Experties-finance, audit 
Current Employment-
consultant.

DR RAJESH NAITHANI 
independent non-Executive 
director, 
Appointed-22 may2015. 
Qualifications- phd 
(pharmaceutical chemistry) 
mba(stuart)(strategy and
marketing)
Experties-science, 
medicine, academia
Current Employment-
advisor for various 
universities in india

NOMVULA NKABINDE
independent non-Executive 
director, 
Appointed-22 may2015. 
Qualifications- 
b.com(accounting) 
advanced Executive

programme, mbl
Experties-finance, 
aviation, strategy, 
leadership
Current Employment-md: 
sebenza forwarding and 
shipping

PHETOLO RAMOSEBUDI
independent non-Executive 
director, 
Appointed-22 may2015. 
Qualifications- bsc in 
physics and chemistry 
certificate programme in 
mathematical modelling of 
derivatives (unisa) 
mba (up) in financial and 
investment management

Accreditations
mifm (south african 
institute of financial 
markets) certified financial 
risk management (frm) 
from global ass. of risk 

professionals (garp); usa
Experties-finance, risk 
management, aviation, 
freight and rail, academia, 
stock broking, housing 

infrastructure, 
Current Employment-
transnet soc ltd.

TREVOR ABRAHAMS
independent non-Executive 
director, 
Appointed-22 may2015. 
Qualifications- ma in 
sociology (political 
Economy), ba hons. in 
psychology, ba
Experties-aviation safety 
and security, academia, 
strategy
Current Employment-
director: Kishugu holdings
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EZROM MABYANA
(Resigned 29 June 2015) 
holds diplomas in 
financial management and 
professional presentation. 
he has been a former 
trustee of three major 
retirement funds in south 
africa, namely transnEt 
retirement fund, security 
sector provident fund and 
cosatu’s Kopano 
Ke maatla trust fund.
he is also a former director 
of some of south africa’s 
blue-chip companies, 
including Jonnic, premier 
milling, Johncon (now 
avusa) and sarhWu 
investment holdings. he 
also held the position of 
president of cosatu’s 
biggest transport union, 
transport and allied 
Workers union for over 
10 years. 

NEO MOSHIMANE  
(Resigned 28 Jan 2015) 
holds a ba in law, an llb and an 
llm. she has also completed 
various financial and 
leadership development 
programmes. she is currently 
an Executive director of 
dm5 incorporated and has 
been a trustee for the cida 
Empowerment trust and 
the young Entrepreneurs 
south africa. before 
establishing dm5, she held 
various executive positions 
at both legal and financial 
institutions.

NOSIPHO GXUMISA
(Resigned 21 May 2015) 
holds a b. Eng (hons) 
manufacturing degree, a 
post graduate diploma 
in management (business 
administration), a master 
programme in supply chain 
and is currently busy with 
an mba. she has also been 
the recipient of various 
awards and scholarships. 
she has held executive 
positions at various 
companies including 
air chefs, south african 
airways and de beers 
consolidated mines. 
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KARABO NONDUMO
Chair of ARC
(Resigned 21 May 2015)  
holds a ca (sa) qualification 
and has experience in 
various sectors including 
natural resources, 
financial services, media, 
telecommunications, 
aviation and energy. 
she currently holds 
directorships at harmony 
gold mining company ltd, 
rolfes holdings ltd and 
merafe resources ltd. 
she is an Executive director 
of Km tech (pty)ltd.  she 
is a member of senatla 
advisory board and trustee 
of innovator trust. she is a 
member of african Woman 
chartered accountants 
(aWca) and saica. she is a 
mentor at shanduka black 
umbrellas.

ANDILE MABIZELA
Former Chairperson and 
Non-Executive Director 
(Resigned 19 Feb 2015)
was appointed as the
chairperson of the board on 
13 august 2012. he holds a 
degree in Economics as well 
as an llb. notwithstanding 
holding various executive 
positions, he has also held 
various board positions 
spanning liberty africa 
and in the aviation 
industry i.e south african 
airways, has also served 
on regulatory boards 
such as the south african 
bureau of standards, the 
Eastern cape gambling 
board and the sa tourism 
council. he currently 
serves as chairperson of 
Johannesburg property 
company (Jpc).

DR BRIGETT SSAMULA
(Resigned 21 May 2015)  
holds a phd in transportation
Engineering and an mba in 
aviation management from 
Embry riddle aeronautical 
university. she is an expert 
in transport and serves 
on the panel of experts 
advising the gauteng 
transport commission 
within the gauteng 
provincial government. 
she has been the recipient 
of numerous industry 
awards and recognitions 
and is the author of a 
variety of peer-reviewed 
conferences, conference 
papers, technical articles 
and articles with an ardent 
interest in african aviation 
issues. 
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Executive management

DAVE ALLANBY
General Manager:          
Flight Operations
is a qualified pilot, that 
is responsible for daily 
airline flight operations. 
his portfolio includes 
ensuring compliance to 
civil aviation legislation 
and iata standard 
operating procedures, 
flight deck and cabin 
crew administration, 
schedule crew rosters 
and the planning of all 
aircrew training. prior 
to joining sa Express, 
captain allanby spent 
eight years as the chief 
pilot of gencor aviation 
and prior to that he was 
at south african airways 
for eight years. at sa 
Express, dave’s previous 
roles included audit 
captain, chief pilot 
and Executive manager: 
flight operations. he 
is currently principal 
officer of the pension 
and provident fund and 
lead negotiator in annual 
union salary reviews.

WESLEY HERMANUS
General Manager:
Ground Operations
(Resigned)
is in his second year of 
heading up the ground 
operation portfolio of sa 
Express. before joining 
ground operations 
he was responsible 
for human capital for 
five years, where he 
was instrumental in 
transforming the area 
from an administrative 
function to a strategic 
business partner. he 
joined sa Express from 
discovery holdings, after 
working at south african 
airways for 10 years in 
various management 
positions. he held various 
positions in human 
capital and operations.
hermanus holds a human 
resource development 
qualification, a masters in 
business administration 
& industry relevant 
Qualifications.

PETER MASHABA
General Manager:
Technical maintenance 
and Engineering
mashaba’s role at sa 
Express is to ensure 
the safe operation of 
the airline through 
compliance with civil 
aviation authority 
(caa) regulations, 
aircraft manufacturer’s 
requirements and 
international standards 
set by iata. his 15 years 
of experience in the 
aviation industry includes 
working at the sacaa 
to oversee safety of 
airlines and commercial 
aircraft operators. peter 
was also responsible for 
preparing south africa 
for state civil aviation 
safety audits conducted 
by the international civil 
aviation organisation 
(icao) and federal 
aviation
administration (faa) 
in 2007. peter holds 
a masters degree in 
aviation safety and 
aircraft airworthiness 
from Enac and Ensica 
university in france.

MERRIAM (CHUEU)
MOCHOELE
General Manager:
Legal, Risk and 
Compliance
holds a b proc. degree 
from the university 
of limpopo, and is an 
admitted attorney of 
the high court in good 
standing. she also 
holds a management 
development programme 
from the university of 
pretoria and a certificate 
in management of 
aviation Quality and 
service, from iata. 
formerly employed 
at the civil aviation 
authority (caa) as a 
senior legal advisor 
where she also acted, on 
a number of occasions, 
as an Executive manager 
legal. she further worked 
as a director of safety 
and security at the 
department of transport 
with a most recent 
assignment being with 
the gautrain management 
agency (gma), as the 
Executive manager 
compliance. she has a 
remarkable international 
law experience acquired 
whilst representing south 
africa on the icao legal 
committee, including its 
various sub groups and 
commissions.
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KGATILE NKALA
General Manager:  
Human Capital
completed bachelor’s 
degree in social science 
in 1995 and an honour’s 
degree in industrial 
relations in 2000, in 
between receiving a 
postgraduate diploma in 
personnel management. 
she later studied for a 
certificate in advanced 
project management at 
stanford university (usa)
centre for professional 
development. after 
working at the university 
of KwaZulu-natal, she 
joined Equity aviation 
services (pty) limited as 
national/group training 
manager before joining sa 
Express. 

BONGANI MATHEBULA
Company Secretary
(Resigned)
joined sa Express in 
January 2014, mathebula is 
in her first year of heading 
company secretariat for 
the company. mathebula 
completed a b proc. with 
the university of limpopo 
and holds a master’s degree 
in commercial law with 
the university of south 
africa. she later studied 
and acquired the following 
certificates: advanced 
corporate law, university 
of south africa and cert. 
board leadership, gibs.
an admitted attorney 
and conveyancer in good 
standing with more than 
12 years post-admission 
experience, she has 
practised as an attorney 
for 3 years and worked as 
a corporate attorney for 
over 9 years; from proctor, 
senior legal advisor and 
company secretary in blue 
chips including university 
of limpopo, roads agency 
limpopo and the limpopo 
Economic development 
agency.

MONDE NGQUMEYA 
Executive in the CEO’s 
Office and PMO
monde has extensive 
aviation experience as 
he was previously the 
chief director aviation at 
the department of public 
Enterprises where he led a 
chief directorate that had 
oversight responsibility 
over the state airline assets 
namely saa and sa Express 
for 6 years. he was involved 
in the states review of both 
the long-term turnaround 
strategy of the two airlines, 
the sa Express transfer from
transnet amongst some of 
the oversight achievements. 
he has represented 
south africa at various 
regional and international 
conferences. he holds a 
b.com transport Economics 
(rau), b.com transport 
Economics honours (uJ) 
–majoring in air transport. 
pdba post graduate degree 
in business administration 
and masters in business 
administration from the 
gordon institute of business 
studies. his master’s thesis 
– was titled “the effect of 
key performance indicators 
on state owned enterprises 
performance in south africa 
: a critical analysis of
three national departments .

BRIAN TEBOGO
VAN WYK
GeneralManager: 
Commercial
is the general manager 
commercial at sa Express 
airways; he holds a b com 
accounting degree from 
rhodes university, a b 
com accounting honours 
degree and cta from 
university of natal. he 
has diverse experience in 
accounting, finance, tax, 
management accounting, 
strategy & business 
management, sales and 
marketing. he has held 
numerous managerial 
positions at the idc, 
bmW sa, bmW financial 
services, Volkswagen and 
audi sa before joining sa 
Express.

30



the chairperson’s 
statement
Celebrating 21 years 

having served on the sa Express board as a non-executive director, i was humbled and honoured to have been appointed to 

non executive chairman from may 2015. on behalf of the sa Express board, its employees and all its stakeholders, i would 

like to extend our appreciation to dr bridgette ssamula for her exceptional contribution in leading the sa Express board as 

chairman and all former  non-executive directors, 

in this financial year 2014/15 we celebrate 21 years of african aviation. sa Express has continuously grown its route network 

and has over the years evolved to being the second largest airline in south africa. it has continued to cement itself as a 

strategic role player in the domestic and regional markets with 1 127 employees, 37 287 flights, 29 city pairs and a route 

network spanning five sadc countries. this was achieved through the hard work, dedication and vision of the company’s 

board, executive management and employees.

Compliance and Governance Environment

the board of directors has the responsibility of providing strategic oversight of the organisation and ensuring that it 

complies with the pfma and other applicable legislation and legal frameworks, including the King iii code of corporate 

governance. furthermore, the board is also confident that sa Express is sustainable and that past financial challenges have 

been alleviated without jeopardising long-term profitability.

together with the executive management team, the board of directors continues with ongoing initiatives to strengthen 

the internal control environment and adherence to the highest standards of corporate governance and financial reporting, 

whilst ensuring the sustainability of the business. the late submission of this financial report is indicative of the board’s 

acknowledged need to strengthen the financial reporting and sustainability of sa Express to enable it to continue as a going 

concern. at the same time, the board recognises its fiduciary responsibility in its role in a state-owned company.

Company Performance 

sa Express has seen the progress in the implementation of the saX 20/20 Vision strategy which is the airlines turnaround 

strategy. it continues to yield positive financial and operational results supported by the added focus on company-wide 

austerity measures currently being implemented by management. i am pleased with the outcome of this document and 

austerity measures proposed as they seek to project the sustainability of sa Express for the next 20 years. furthermore, as 
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a state-owned company and, through the implementation of saX 20/20, the board will play a catalytic role in driving the 

airline’s dual mandate. this is characterised by achieving the state’s developmental objectives, sustainability in the region, 

skills development, job creation and expansion into the africa region while remaining commercially viable. the strategy 

is also part of the airline’s commitment to the development of a ‘Whole-of-state aviation framework’, a joint effort by sa 

Express and south african airways, endorsed and supported by the shareholder representative, the department of public 

Enterprises.

accordingly we welcome the new board members all of whom are well placed to make a valuable contribution to the 

company’s advancements. We also extend our gratitude to our honourable minister for her dedication and commitment. it is 

also fitting to thank all the board members for their collective experience, wise counsel, valuable insights and guidance over 

the last year. on behalf of the board, we express our gratitude to our chief Executive officer inati ntshanga and his executive 

team for their leadership, dedication and resilience. i also thank the employees for their unwavering commitment and 

contribution in serving our passengers with pride.

the board will continue its responsibility to improving effectiveness relating to the company’s governance processes, policies 

and procedures to ensure that a high standard of governance practice is maintained so that the company may operate 

effectively and deliver sustainable value.

G. Mothema

Chairperson and Non-Executive Director   
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chief Executive 
officer’s statement
When reflecting on the 2014/15 financial year, it is with a sense of cautious optimism that we can report that sa Express has 

shown an improved set of results when compared to the previous financial year.

the 2014/15 financial year was a particularly challenging one for the aviation industry in south africa. sa Express has had to 

implement stringent financial austerity measures in order to remain viable and relevant in commercial aviation domestically 

and within the region.

sa Express has also experienced a change in leadership from the shareholder’s perspective. the department of Enterprise 

saw a new appointment at the helm, minister lynne brown, one of whose responsibilities is to lead sa Express into the 

future as one of the state’s aviation assets. furthermore, in her budget Vote speech, the minister highlighted the plight of 

the state’s aviation assets when she observed that, “the environment in which saa and sa Express operate domestically 

and globally has become ever more challenging, with intensified competition, narrow margins and cost pressures due to fuel 

prices and currency volatility. in this context, their under-capitalised balance sheets severely constrain the airlines, leading 

to continued losses and affecting the going concern status of the companies.” this sentiment is reflected in sa Express’s 

strategy of cost reduction and improving efficiencies in operations and staff, and systems optimisation.

Within the african continent air travel has continued to play a key role in economic growth, job creation and connecting 

people. remote areas have become connected through runways, enabling economic and social development in these far-

flung areas.
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Company Performance

despite the continuing, challenging, global economic conditions in the airline industry, sa Express managed to realise growth 

of 11,5 per cent in airline-related revenue in 2014/15 when compared to 2013/14. the growth in revenue is attributable to 

the increase in average yield as the passenger numbers declined by 3,4 per cent. although the increase in revenue has been 

pleasing, this has been negated by the increase in operating costs. this has been attributable to increases in passenger 

handling, fuel and maintenance costs and so, consequently, the airline has continued to look at opportunities for decreasing 

costs. the financial position remained weak and this led to the airline reviewing its route network and scaling down the 

number of routes and destinations served. the airline’s financial position clearly indicated that sa Express required an urgent 

turnaround strategy – this was adopted in the previous year and in the 2014/15 financial year the results of the strategy along 

with implemented austerity measures are beginning show positive results. the chief financial officer’s report addresses the 

financial position in more detail.

Route Expansion

the past year has also been one of intense activity with regards to our route and network planning, and saw five unprofitable 

routes cancelled due to cost-cutting measures. these have been capably implemented by the austerity measures team, 

appointed by my office. significant savings were realised from landing fees, fuel costs, ground handling fees and other 

related operational costs. the company is exploring the feasibility of new routes to sun city and mahikeng that could prove 

profitable in the short- to medium-term. increasing the route network, while reviewing unprofitable routes, demonstrates 

that sa Express is committed to making air travel as profitable and widely accessible to as many south africans as possible 

by offering value for money fares. flying should not be restricted to a few south africans.

Competition

regardless of thin margins in the industry, new entrants are charging in, attempting to gain market share. competition is 

always welcome in the domestic market as it leads to greater options for customers and trade and it therefore essential 

that sa Expres continue being a dynamic and progressive airline to ensure that we continue to protect our market share. 

sa Express continues to be a feeder airline to saa, the national carrier and, as both airlines operate within the region, it is 
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becoming clear that o.r. tambo international airport is losing traffic to aggressive hub growth in such places as nairobi and 

addis ababa. these hubs are also attracting middle Eastern carriers that divert the feed from saa. it is important that sa 

Express continues to pursue its mandate to be ‘regional carrier of choice in africa’ by focusing on service, reliability and 

safety.

Strategic Priorities

as a state owned company (soc), sa Express enters into an annual shareholder compact with the shareholder oversight 

department. the shareholder compact, together with the saX 20/20 strategy, agreed that for the 2014/15 financial year the 

airline will focus on the following strategic priorities:

 to consolidate and cement its business model, which is predominately that of a regional carrier with a strong focus  

 on business travel;

 to be a sustainable, well-managed and profitable regional airline;

 to provide consistent and efficient customer service;

 to foster performance excellence through the development of people, skills and jobs;

 to become a catalyst for key developmental state objectives, including the development of infrastructure, the  

 facilitation of trade and the growth of the tourism industry; and

 to expand the airline’s services throughout africa.

sa Express has delivered against the majority of these priorities during the period under review. the team will continue to 

pursue cost saving initiatives and ensure that the airline is prudent in all its commercial endeavours.

Corporate Strategy

While celebrating achievements, the company must also look forward to the next 20 years. sa Express will continue to 

implement its saX 20/20 Vision, the board-approved strategy. this is the company’s road map for consolidation, based 

on lessons from the last 21 years, and lays the foundation for growth in the next 20 years. apart from adding new routes 

and reprioritising existing ones, investment is being made in aircraft. the guiding principles for this exercise include 

improvements in safety and reliability, deploying a fleet that is cost-effective, efficient and, most importantly, utilising 

aircraft that are environmentally friendly. this is the start of sa Express’s investment for the next 20 years, with emphasis on 

re-fleeting aircraft frames with low emission and fuel-efficient engines.
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Financial Responsibility

financial stability, through identification of opportunities for revenue growth and cost cutting, continue to be the focus of the 

business. the cost-cutting initiatives are championed by sa Express management through overhauling some of the airline’s 

operational costs. in the year under review, the implementation of cost-cutting initiatives was a success. the success of 

this is due to the sa Express austerity measure team (amt) for its continued tenacity and hard work. these savings had a 

positive financial impact as further losses could have been experienced had these cost cutting initiatives not been identified 

and implemented. though the business is making the right decisions and heading in the right direction, complacency must 

be guarded against, as much still needs to be done to ensure that sustainable operational and financial performances are 

achieved.

Developmental Objectives

as an soc, sa Express has a developmental responsibility to play a significant role in supporting the new growth path and 

the national development plan. Without a doubt, skills development is critical for south africa’s economic growth and so, to 

realise the goals of the national development plan, the company has focused on skills development to ensure that employees 

are equipped with the necessary skills to achieve the organisation’s goals.

sa Express continues to focus on employee development  and training. a great number of employees have undergone training 

and some of the courses include: back to basics, finance for non-financial managers, performance management masterclass 

and aviation fuel management. furthermore, within this financial year partnerships have been formed with tEta, the 

department of public Enterprises and the department of transport through initiatives such as career exhibitions, aviation 

awareness and an active drive for south africans to pursue careers in aviation. it is pleasing that the mach 1 cadet pilot 

training programme has absorbed 10 young people from previously disadvantaged backgrounds, with eight of them being 

female.
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Responsible Corporate Citizen

this signals strong intent to create aviation awareness among disadvantaged communities in south africa and address the 

issue of skills shortages. hopefully, through diverse initiatives, future pilots and engineers will be identified and inspired to 

reinforce the strong credentials of sa Express as by far the most transformed airline in south africa.

in 2015, sa Express celebrates 21 years in aviation with continued commitment to the citizenry of south africa and the 

sadc region to provide a sustainable, world-class regional airline with an extensive footprint in africa, as declared in the 

company’s Vision. the company’s 20 years in aviation in 2014 coincided with south africa celebrating 20 years of democracy. 

Just as the new south africa inaugurated madiba as its first democratically elected president, sa Express was born on 24 

april 1994, three days before millions of south africans voted for the first time. the milestone of celebrating 20 years in 

2014 provided sa Express with an opportunity to reflect on the progress made as an organisation to fulfill the government’s 

aim of facilitating socio-economic development in south africa and throughout the rest of africa.

sa Express has also invested significant resources in corporate social investment (csi) programmes. the csi contributions 

have ranged from exposing rural pupils to aviation and the freedom of the skies. in addition sa Express has also partnered 

with sithand’izingane care project and mehlareng school in the East rand. the company’s goal is to make a difference in the 

communities in which it operates, as well as delivering on shareholder values. 

Customer Experience

What continues to act as a differentiator for sa Express is that the company puts its customers at the centre, providing them 

with more competitive travel options whilst stimulating market demand. the company has an inherent ability to grow in 

areas where it has the real identification that others don’t and still remain on track to fulfil the vision of being a sustainable, 

world-class regional airline with an extensive footprint in africa.

at 88 per cent, sa Express has one of the highest targets for on-time performance. this target has been achieved and the 

airline will strive to maintain this level of performance to ensure that customers’ experiences are positive.
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Corporate Governance

sa Express aims to be a good corporate citizen and maintain the highest standards of integrity and ethics in dealings with 

stakeholders. the company will endeavour to ensure that it offers the best possible airline service and is regarded as the 

airline of choice for travellers within its operating environment. the business is managed and controlled by implementing 

governance procedures and ensuring that risks are identified and managed effectively.

Looking Ahead

sa Express continues to pursue its dual mandate and is looking forward to being a catalyst for key developmental state 

objectives. although the domestic market growth has reached a plateau, caution should be exercised regarding the strength 

of the domestic market, particularly in light of the relatively weak gdp growth forecasts. although the aviation industry 

continues to face obstacles, sa Express remains confident that the recent capital investments have elevated the company to 

a new level of efficiency.

appreciation

on behalf of my executive team and management, our sincere appreciation goes to every individual who works and lives the 

values of sa Express. We thank you for your dedication, despite the airline’s continued financial challenges, the commitment 

demonstrated by all staff continue to present sa Express as a world class airline in terms of service and safety is appreciated. 

the supportive role of the department of public Enterprises and all arms of government, has enabled us to continuously 

pursue our developmental mandate. the continued success of the airline would not have been as pronounced without this 

constructive support. particular mention is made of our board of directors for its oversight and counsel during the year under 

review. it goes without saying that our greatest appreciation goes to the customers who have continued to fly with us every 

day. We know that, without you, there would not be a company and, for that, we humbly thank you.

_________________________________________________

I. Ntshanga

CEO and Executive Director
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chief financial 
officer’s statement
Introduction

the objective of this section is to provide an insight into the financial performance for the year ended 31 march 2015. this 

report should be read in conjunction with the attached annual financial statements.

Financial Performance 

Revenue

despite the continuing challenging global economic conditions in the airline industry, south african Express airways 

managed to realize a growth of 1.13% (r29m) in revenue compared to 2014, attributable to the increase in average yield 

achieved. average yield increased by 4.33% year on year, whilst passenger numbers declined by 6% year on year. the 

average load factor for the year was 62% compared to last year’s load factor of 64%. 

Operating costs

the airline implemented a range of measures to return the airline to a viable and sustainable business during the year. these 

measures include the review of several costly maintenance agreements with offshore service providers, reviewing and 

optimising the operating schedule and exiting loss-making routes. the performance of the airline improved significantly from 

october 2014, following the implementation of these measures. fuel costs have decreased based on the decline in oil prices, 

but these were largely offset by the weakening Zar/usd exchange rate. fuel volumes due to optimised flying saw fuel costs 

decrease as a result. sa Express, despite the age of its fleet, manages  fuel burn to below industry norms for comparative 

aircraft types and ranges flown. the airline has successfully appointed new ground handlers at significantly lower rates, and 

has commenced self handling at ortia, with improved service levels as well as lower costs.

Operating profit

operating profit for 2015 was r14,7m compared to a restated  loss r25m in 2014 which represents an improvement of 

r39,7m.

Finance Costs

the net finance costs increased to r23m compared to r13m in 2014 as a result of higher average borrowings compared to the 

prior year as well as the increase in rates. 
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Financial Position

i am pleased to report that during the year the company embarked on an intensive program to value the rotables and 

consumable items in inventory which had led to qualifications in the prior years as part of the comprehensive program and 

initiatives introduced to deal with internal control deficiencies previously reported on.

the result of this program has led to a revision of the carrying values of both consumables and rotables and limited the audit 

qualification to the opening balances on these assets. as a result of this program the closing balances related to these assets 

have been audited and are no longer the subject of an audit qualification.

management believes that the ongoing implementation of this program will ensure that during the 2015-16 year, the company 

will achieve an unqualified audit opinion relative to these assets.

the statement of financial position remained weak as the company ended the year with a cash and cash equivalents of 

r23,9m when compared with the r73000 in 2014, due to the realisation of the long-term investment held with standard 

bank. the overdraft utilisation at balance sheet date decreased to r0m compared to r95m in 2014. the company embarked 

on a process to deal with the issues around the valuation of inventory and rotables which has been an issue since the 

restatement of the company’s accounts in 2011. the net impact of the verification and valuation amounted to an impairment 

of r62m in the current year, and a gain of r149m in the prior year. the airline is still in a Vdp process with the south african 

revenue services relating to overpayments of tax in prior years. the asset had been derecognised in 2014, and once the 

process has been finalised, could yield a refund of r33,6m, which will be accounted for in the period in which finality is 

reached.

 

the impact of the weaker Zar/usd exchange rate impacted negatively on usd based costs, including network cost and sap 

transaction costs.  outstanding creditors have remained consistent, despite the improvement in operating costs, further 

highlighting the substantial pressure on the company to address this issue with key suppliers.

the balance sheet indicates that the company is in need of urgent recapitalisation, by way of permanent equity funding, 

as the balance sheet cannot bear more debt in order to refleet. short or long-term debt funding will further hamper the 

profitability of the company. the company has been granted an extension of the working capital and equity covenants 

guarantees, as well as additional working capital guarantees to ensure the airline meets the requirements of a going concern, 

as well as addressing its immediate cash flow needs. these guarantees will allow saX to borrow funds in the open market, 

and have an amortisation profile of five years. during this time the airline, based on measures introduced, will return to 

profitability and become a net positive cash contributor.

the outlook for 2015 remains flat, with passenger numbers forecast to grow by 2%, and average fare by 3%. despite the 

low top line growth, the strategy of flying less frequently with higher load factors will drive costs down and assist in the 

continuation of the return to profitability in the next financial year.

_________________________________________________

Mark Shelley

Chief Financial Officer
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intErnal control and 
risK managEmEnt  

rEport

39



sa Express has adopted an enterprise-wide approach to risk management, which means that every identified material 

risk is included in a structured and systematic process of risk management. sa Express maintains consistency in the 

application of the risk management processes and methodology. the risk policy has been adapted and approved by the 

board as the custodian of the overall process of risk management. 

the responsibility for the implementation of risk management policies and processes rests with management and staff. 

management has developed an annual risk plan, which guides the risk management activities.  as part of embedding 

risk management the business undertakes strategic and operational risk assessments quarterly and annually.  all major 

projects are also subjected to risk assessments on an on-going basis. progress against the implementation of the annual 

risk plan, including material risks that are facing sa Express, is reported on a quarterly basis to the board through the 

audit and risk committee. the company is inherently exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks, credit 

risks, capital risks and liquidity risks. the board approves prudent financial policies and delegates certain responsibilities 

to Executive management who directly control day-to-day financial operations and who operate within clearly defined 

parameters.

the strategic risks facing sa Express are an indication of a tough trading environment and resource constraints including 

a weak balance sheet. Key risks and management of remedial actions are continuously monitored and reviewed by all 

levels of management.

a summary of the strategic risks and mitigation measures are set out below:

Corporate Governance
to adhere to governance requirements, the company is steadfast on maintaining the principles of good corporate 

governance to guarantee that the business is managed with integrity, fairness, transparency and accountability.

implementation of appropriate risk management activities ensures that regular risk assessments, including consideration 

of it risks and fraud prevention, are conducted and that a risk strategy to address the risks is developed and monitored. 

the recent establishment of an in-house internal audit unit attests to the plans to ensure that there is an adequately 

resourced and functioning internal audit unit that identifies internal control deficiencies and recommends corrective 

action effectively. 
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Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
as committed on the shareholder compact in the year under review, the company drafted a strategic deliverable – 

internal controls plan that was submitted to the shareholder. furthermore, implementation of initiatives is underway and 

the review of the plan will be undertaken as and when required. 

the audit and risk committee developed the internal financial control (ifc) checklist utilised as an internal measuring 

tool in the finance department. the checklist aims to prevent and detect any internal control weaknesses that may 

possibly occur during the normal course of business. the responses captured on the checklist give finance management 

an indication of the level of internal control compliance. 

the self-assessment ifc will be conducted on a quarterly basis with all the findings and recommendations communicated 

to the senior internal auditor. 

financial and performance management implementation ensures proper record-keeping in a timely manner so that complete 

and accurate information is accessible and available to support financial and performance reporting. the company is 

committed to implementing controls over daily and monthly processing and reconciling of transactions and preparation of 

regular, accurate and complete financial performance reports that are supported and evidenced by reliable information.

the review and monitoring of compliance with applicable laws and regulations; complementary information technology 

design and implementation of formal controls through it systems ensures reliability of systems, accuracy and protection 

of information.

Internal Control Framework
the company continues to review its internal control processes to ensure it maintains a strong and effective internal 

control environment. during the period under review an in-house internal audit unit was formulated with the effectiveness 

of the process frequently reviewed by the company’s audit and risk committee.

Elaboration on the internal controls of the company is unpacked within this section and governance section of this 

report.

Risk Management
Key risks and management of remedial actions are continuously monitored and reviewed by all levels of management. 

the financial-related risks remain a concern to sa Express, and this is exacerbated by the current tough economic 

conditions. in order to mitigate these risks, sa Express is engaging with the shareholder for support, whilst at the same 

time implementing other alternative measures of strengthening the company’s financial position.
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a. Debt Funding
  the company like any other airline is inherently exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks, 

credit risks, capital risks and liquidity risks. the board approves prudent financial policies and delegates certain 

responsibilities to Executive management who directly control day-to-day financial operations and who operate within 

clearly defined parameters.

  the company carries substantial debt that needs to be repaid. the ability to finance ongoing operations and future 

fleet growth plans is vulnerable to various factors including institutions’ appetite for secured aircraft financing. the 

company attempts to maintain substantial cash reserves and committed financing facilities to mitigate the risk of 

short-term interruptions to the aircraft financing in addition, the company continually monitors its cash position and 

further undertakes long-term planning of its capital requirements.

b.  Currency Fluctuations
  the company reports in south african rands, the exchange rate of which varies relative to other currencies. a 

significant portion of the costs to company are incurred in foreign currencies, mainly the united states dollar. the 

movement of these currencies could have a positive or negative impact on the income, expenses and profitability of 

the company. unrealised and realised currency gains or losses may distort the financial accounts. the company has a 

policy in place to govern the hedging of currency exposure.

c. Safety of Passengers and Employees
  from a safety and security oversight perspective, a safety, security, health, Environmental and Quality (sshEQ) 

board sub-committee exists.

  in order to further enhance the security of our customers’ possessions, in september 2013 the company introduced a 

free baggage wrapping service for its customers. this was a pilot project aimed at establishing if this would result in 

the reduction of baggage pilferage and/or damage.the project has continued to be successful in the 2014/15 fy.
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d. Aircraft Safety
  maintenance of the aircraft fleet is regulated by the south african civil aviation authority (sacaa) and   

 additionally  audited by the European aviation safety authority.  further, in order to strengthen its safety systems 

 the company has implemented the following:

	 	 •	IATA	Operational	Safety	Audit	(“IOSA”)
     the iosa is an internationally recognised and accepted evaluation system designed to assess the operational 

management and control systems of an airline. the approach of the company to aviation safety is one of 

oversight and audit as defined within the context of the discipline of the iosa audit structure, namely, flight, 

ground, cabin maintenance, security and dispatch. the company has participated in the iosa programme since 

2006 and has successfully undergone a total of four unqualified audits.

	 	 •	Safety	Management	System	(SMS)
    the company has a safety management system to address all aspects of aviation and ground safety. the purpose 

of the sms is to ensure that safety management systems are in place and to ensure that risks affecting safety are 

controlled and appropriately mitigated. the director of operations monitors the performance of the company 

against defined objectives and the board reviews the aviation safety goal matrix at its quarterly board meetings.
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Brand Reputation
Erosion of a brand may adversely impact the position of the company with its customers and could ultimately affect future 

revenue and profitability. the Executive management team regularly monitors customer satisfaction through surveys 

as well as ongoing improvements in the company product offering in order to mitigate this risk. sa Express allocates 

substantial resources to safety, security: on-board product and focus on world-class customer service. 

Competition
the level and intensity of competition are critical drivers of profitability for any airline, and in recent years, competitive 

pressures have proved a significant challenge for all airlines in south africa. the level of competition faced varies 

considerably in different areas of the network, which must be taken into account alongside demand when considering 

future strategy. despite the challenges faced by the industry globally and the recent demise of some low-cost airlines in 

south africa, three new entrants are expected to enter the market in 2014/2015.

these entrants are expected to increase the competition in the south african airline industry. the airlines are likely not to 

rival low-cost carriers only, but sa Express with increased competition in primary and secondary routes domestically and 

within sadc.

sa Express operates a total of 29 routes, with 20 domestic and nine regional routes; of these seven operations are on

exclusive routes.
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Information Systems Security and General Risk
to counter possible threats and manage the company dependency on information technology (it) systems for most of its 

principal business processes, system controls, disaster recovery and business continuity measures exist to mitigate the 

risk of a crucial system failure. the failure of a key system may cause significant disruption and/or result in lost revenue. 

it governance measures have been put in place in accordance with the requirements of King iii. 

General and Application Controls
for executive oversight the appointed divisional manager it reports to the chief financial officer. no security breaches 

occurred during the period under review. the company’s it department worked closely with service providers to achieve 

full efficiency on the company’s networks and customer-facing systems.

Landing Fees and Security Charges
airport taxes, landing fees and security charges represent a significant operating cost to the company and have an impact 

on operations. Whilst certain of these charges are passed on to passengers by way of surcharges and taxes, others are 

not. the company regularly engages with various industry bodies and government in an attempt to keep these costs under 

control. these charges have been high and have affected profitability.

Employee Relations
a sizeable number of the company employees are members of trade unions. the company enjoys a good working relationship 

with the trade unions and recognition agreements are in place with wages negotiations taking place annually. policies are 

in place to manage labour relations.

Key Supplier Risk
the company is dependent on suppliers for some principal business processes. the failure of a key supplier to deliver 

contractual obligations may cause significant disruption to operations. a close relationship is maintained with key suppliers 

in order to ensure awareness of any potential supply chain disruption. the company further continually monitors its key 

suppliers through implementing and monitoring service level agreement and constant engagement and ensuring that 

corrective action is taken on any non-adherences to ensure improvement of services for our customers.

Fraud Prevention and Compliance
the company has a fraud prevention policy. this is supported by internal controls that prevent fraud and theft. over 

and above the internal processes implemented to curb and report fraud activities, sa express employs the services of an 

external service provider to handle suspected fraudulent activities. all matters reported independently and anonymously to 

the service provider are reported to the board and/or senior management for actioning. the independence and anonymity in 

which the matters are handled goes a long way in promoting improved reporting. Each report receives high-level attention, 

and as action is taken, results are shared with the service provider as part of a full circle communication. 
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With regard to compliance, sa Express continued to strengthen its internal processes as well as the monitoring of compliance 

therewith through internal quality control audits, with all findings (most of which were minor) closed within reasonable 

time frames sa Express continues in its compliance path. 

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
sa Express recognises the importance of implementing a broad-based black Economic Empowerment (“b-bbEE”) programme 

and continues to make significant progress on the sustainable transformation agenda with the airline refining processes to 

ensure that b-bbEE requirements are met.  

in the year under review the company sustained its b-bbEE score of  level 5. as an airline we continue to promote economic 

participation for the previously disadvantaged population through driving the following pillars based on the aviation sector 

codes:

•		Management	Control;

•		Employment	Equity;

•		Skills	Development;

•		Preferential	Procurement;

•		Enterprise	Development;	and

•		Socio	-	Economic	Development.

our b-bbEE strategy ensures that the company remains an integral part of the political, social and economic community 

in south africa, as a state owned company and corporate citizen, to meet its developmental objectives. the airline is 

committed to facilitate economic transformation through leveraging its procurement spend, in support of the shareholder 

– department of public Enterprises’ competitive supplier development programme which promotes industrialisation 

and localisation. additionally, the cadet pilot programme, learnerships and apprenticeship initiatives are a vehicle for 

transforming employment equity as part of socio-economic development.

the following developmental objectives are an imperative and used in consultation with relevant policies such as the 

competitive supplier development programme (csdp), national industrial participation programme (nipp), youth 

Economic participation (yEp), new growth path (ngp) and national development plan (ndp):

	 •		 Job	Creation	&	Skills	Transfer;

	 •		 Economic	Value	Creation;

	 •		 Broad-Based	Black	Economic	Empowerment;and

	 •			 Socio	-	Economic	Development.
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Skills Shortages
the company has done very well in recruiting skilled employees from previously disadvantaged communities. the training, 

employment and retention of skilled staff, with particular reference to pilots, remain a major challenge, particularly pilots 

from previously disadvantaged communities. the company has attempted to address this challenge through its cadet pilot 

training programme and through its policy of having its pilots sign training bonds in an attempt to ensure that they remain 

in the employ of the company for a defined period of time to derive the benefit of having trained them.

Environmental Impacts, Industry Emissions and Waste Management
the aviation industry is often impacted and is vulnerable to policies and proposals that relate to climate change and 

emissions. in the year under review the carbon-emission tax has been debated at large. the progress made at the 

international civil aviation organisation (icao) general assembly in october 2010, where 190 member states agreed 

to the aspirations of achieving carbon neutral growth from 2020, a huge reduction in emissions by 2050 places enormous 

pressure on sa Express to abide by and be an industry leader in this area.  the industry aims to achieve substantial reduction.

the company supports these aspirations, as well as the implementation of a framework for reducing aviation emissions 

based on carbon trading that is applied equally to all airlines and all industries as a whole. in response to these pressures, 

the company has embarked on a number of initiatives to reduce its environmental impact, including the introduction 

of more fuel-efficient and quieter aircraft, as well as continuously measuring and monitoring its emissions and 

waste management.  
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Performance Dimension

 2014/15 2013/14
FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

revenue (rands) r2.59bn r2.56bn

operating profit margin 1% (1%)

year-end net cash (rands)  -95.4 m -68.9 m

Value-added to Employees (rands)  550.4 m 528.3 m

Value-added to providers of finance (rands)  22.1 m 24.7 m

cargo as a percentage of turnover 0.62% 0.78%

aircraft utilisation (average hours per day) 7:35 7:47

otp (within 15 min of scheduled departure) 88% 88%

passengers transported  1.55 m 1.62 m

passenger revenue (rands)  2.48 bn 2.21 bn

average revenue per passenger (rands)  1,200 966

passenger load factors 64% 65%

SOCIAL SAFETY

fatalities 0 0

number of serious incidents  16 13

HEALTH

Employees medically surveyed  463 401

noise-induced hearing loss 0 0

EMPLOYEES

total Employees  1,188  1,136 

Expenditure on employee training (rands)  29.4 m 40.3 m

% black employees attending leadership development programme 74% 76%

% female employees attending leadership development programme 52% 71%

TRANSFORMATION AND B-BBEE

b-bbEE rating  level 5 level 7

% black employees 68% 64%

% female employees 38% 36%

% black employees in management 50% 28%

% female employees in management 26% 16%

COMMUNITY

corporate social responsibility expenditure (rands)  1.50 m 3.56 m

ENVIRONMENT

carbon footprint (scope 1 and 2) tons co2e  183.96  186.64 

carbon Efficiency (emmissions in grams / passenger kilometre)  165.5 167.2

iso 9001 implementation  in progress in progress

sustainability report 2014/15
Sustainability Performance
the sustainability report illustrates a year-on-year  comparison of performance of sa Express appropriately selected 

indicators. the movement column depicts either an improvement or decrease in performance as appropriate.
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Debt Funding 
sa Express is exposed to a variety of financial risks including market risks, credit risks, capital risks and liquidity risks. the 

board approves prudent financial policies and delegates certain responsibilities to Executive management who directly 

control day to day financial operations and who operate within clearly defined parameters. sa Express carries substantial 

debt that needs to be repaid. the ability to finance ongoing operations, committed aircraft leases and future fleet growth 

plans is vulnerable to various factors including institutions’ appetite for secured aircraft financing. sa Express plans to 

maintain substantial cash reserves and committed financing facilities to mitigate the risk of short-term cash flow short 

falls. sa Express in addition, continually monitors its cash position and further undertakes long-term planning of its capital 

requirements. 

Currency and Exchange Rate Fluctuations
sa Express reports in south african rands (Zar), the exchange rate of which varies relative to other currencies. a significant 

portion of the sa Express costs are incurred in foreign currencies, mainly the united states dollar. the movement of these 

currencies could have a positive or negative impact on the income, expenses and profitability of the company. unrealized 

and realized currency gains or losses may distort the financial accounts. sa Express does not have a policy in place to govern 

the hedging of currency exposure, the business will continue to monitor and revaluate this continually and the impact on the 

business.

Oil Price Fluctuations
as with foreign currencies, sa Express incurs substantial costs with regard to the purchase of fuel for its aircraft. the 

business is exposed to fluctuations of fuel price as a result, this is continually monitored. sa Express does not have a policy 

to hedge a portion of its fuel requirements where this is achievable. this is the prudent approach the company has adopted 

as fuel hedging contains an element of risk.

Competition
the market in which the airline operates in domestically and regionally is highly competitive. direct competition is faced 

from other airlines on the routes the airline operates and from other modes of transport (road and rail). competitor capacity 

growth in excess of demand growth could materially impact the airlines margins. fare discounting by competitors has 

historically and currently has a negative effect on the airline because a response is generally required to competitor fares 

to maintain passenger volumes and market share. the airline has a strong market position in secondary markets, a good 

alliance with south african airways. a closer collaboration between saa and mango will build a diverse customer base to 

address the risk of competition from competitors domestically and regionally.

Safety of Passengers and Employees
a multitude of processes and structures are in place to monitor and report on aviation safety, quality and security within 

the airline and its operating environment. sa Express maintains an iata membership registration through iosa compliance, 

thereby ensuring the implementation of global best practice in managing its operational safety, and is also audited the 

south african civil aviation authority. 

Key Environment  
sustainability 
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Legislation and Regulation
regulation of the airline industry is increasing and covers many of the airlines activities such as safety, security, traffic rights, slot 

control access and environment controls. in order to mitigate these risks, the airline attempts, amongst other things, to maintain 

a good working relationship with government departments, acsa, caa and other regulatory and industry bodies. notwithstanding 

same, bilateral treaties governing route rights within the african continent have had a major impact on the airline’s ability to 

expand its operations into the african region.

Landing & Parking Fees and Security Charges
airport taxes, landing fees and security charges represent a significant operating cost to the airline and have an impact on 

operations. the increase in these costs continues to put pressure on the airlines margins. Whilst certain of these charges are 

passed on to passengers by way of surcharges and taxes, others are not. the airline regularly engages with various industry 

bodies and government in an attempt to keep these costs under control.

Employee Relations
a large number of the airlines employees are members of trade unions. the airline strives to maintain a good working relationship 

with the various unions where the airline has recognition agreements in place and enters into substantive negotiations annually. 

the airline further has a strike action policy in place. the staffing levels continue to be monitors and measures against industry 

benchmarks and standards and the airline will review the staff compliment annually to improve operational efficiency.

Critical Skills Shortages
the training, employment and retention of skilled staff, with particular reference to pilots and aeronautical technicians, remains 

a major challenge. sa Express is an incubator for training for the industry and remains at the forefront of the aviation industry 

with the number of pilots and aeronautical technicians trained that come from previously disadvantaged groups. the airline has 

addressed this challenge through its successful cadet pilot training program, the technicians apprentice training program and 

through partnering with various government departments and industry bodies who also help with funding the programs. 
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Climate Change
the aviation industry is extremely vulnerable to climate change policies, especially where these involve carbon emissions. the 

progress made at the international civil aviation organisation (icao) general assembly in october 2010, where 190 member states 

agreed to the aspirations of achieving carbon neutral growth from 2020, together with the global airline industry vision for a sector-

wide approach of enabling carbon neutral growth by 2020 and a huge reduction in emissions by 2050 places enormous pressure on 

the airline to abide by and be an industry leader in this area. the airline supports these aspirations, as well as the implementation 

of a framework for reducing aviation emissions based on carbon trading that is applied equally to all airlines and all industries as 

a whole. in response to these pressures the airline has embarked on a number of initiatives to reduce its environmental impact, 

including the introduction of more fuel-efficient and quieter aircraft in the future, as well as continuously measuring and monitoring 

its emissions and waste management.

2015
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Key developments
in 2014/15
Climate Change Framework
the company has submitted its climate change plan to the department of public Enterprise; this plan is in line with the 

climate change framework. in the plan, sa Express has committed to a ghg emission reduction of 34% by 2020. thus far, 

sa Express has managed to reduce ghg emission by 15.5%.

Fuel Reporting and Emissions Data (FRED)
iata has implemented a compulsory fuel reporting. sa Express will implement a fuel reporting and Emissions data, which 

will assist sa Express with ensuring fuel efficiency. firstly, the Emissions reporting framework will be in accordance with 

international best practices and secondly, sa Express will be able to benchmark itself against all other iata members in 

terms of fuel usage and management.

our  environmental  goals  are  namely:  a  zero  waste  to  land fill, improving  carbon  efficiency  by  5%  per  annum  in  terms  of  co2 

emissions  per  passenger  kilometre,  as  well  as  zero  growth  in  emission s post  2020, i.e.  carbon  neutral. 

Austerity Measures
since the initial commitments, sa Express has identified 16 major initiatives that are expected to yield 80% of the required savings 

over this financial year. the total expected savings on these initiatives amounts to r 244,937,624.46. the following are the top 

three initiatives in terms of contribution and priority:

 sa Express schedule optimization;

 passenger & ground handling services;

 technical / aircraft services contracts; and

Environment
sa Express is committed to minimising the impact of our operations on the environment. this is done through improved 

operational efficiencies across the board, in particular within our technical and flight operations business units. the use 

of the latest technologies, sustainable procurement practices, as well as effective waste management programmes through 

reducing, reusing, recycling and ultimately responsible disposal, is implemented.
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the major environmental risks impacting sa Express’ operations are presented in the table below: 

Various interventions have been put in place to mitigate the above-mentioned risks, and these include amending waste 

disposal contracts with service providers to include disposal of biohazard materials and responsible disposal of oil and fuel.

sa Express supports the cop19 resolution on climate change by supporting initiatives assigned by the sa government to 

the state owned companies (soc).

From a Safety and Security Oversight perspective
safety and security is high on the agenda of sa Express, and we aim to always ensure that our stakeholders, 

as well as their possessions entrusted to us, are safe and secure at all times. to this end, we continuously adhere to the 

compliance standards set by various regulatory bodies, including the south african civil aviation authority (sacaa).

during the year under review, we were audited by the sacaa both from a safety and security point of view, and there were 

no major findings, but just a few minor improvement recommendations, which have since been implemented. We also 

underwent a few adhoc audits which went well. this should give our customers peace of mind, knowing that sa Express is 

at all times safe and secure.

Highlights from a risk perspective
the year was filled with interesting challenges. some of the risks did materialise and our resilience as an entity was tested. 

it is noteworthy that we continue to operate amidst these challenges and the organisation continues to strengthen, 

providing evidence that set targets and mitigation actions are yielding results. sa Express is steadily ensuring that the risk 

exposures are minimised to an acceptable level, or eliminated where possible.

Key risks and Management remedial actions
the financial-related risks remain a concern to sa Express, and this is exacerbated by the current tough economic 

conditions. in order to mitigate these risks, sa Express is engaging with the shareholder for support, whilst at the same 

time considering other alternative ways of strengthening the company’s financial position.

Environmental risk applicability/group segment

oil/fuel spillage technical environments

noise pollution all

air pollution operations

Waste management all

hazardous material handling operations and technical

climate change all
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internal control and risk management 
report
sa Express has adopted an enterprise-wide approach to risk management, which means that every identified material risk 

is included in a structured and systematic process of risk management.  sa Express maintains consistency in the application 

of the risk management processes and methodology. the risk policy has been adapted and approved by the board as the 

custodian of the overall process of risk management.  

the responsibility for the implementation of risk management policies and processes rests with management and staff. 

management has developed an annual risk plan, which guides the risk management activities.  as part of embedding risk 

management the business undertakes strategic and operational risk assessments quarterly and annually.  all major projects 

are also subjected to risk assessments on an on-going basis. progress against the implementation of the annual risk plan, 

including material risks that are facing sa Express, is reported on a quarterly basis to the board through the audit and risk 

committee. the company is inherently exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks, credit risks, capital 

risks and liquidity risks. the board approves prudent financial policies and delegates certain responsibilities to Executive 

management who directly control day-to-day financial operations and who operate within clearly defined parameters.

the strategic risks facing sa Express are an indication of a tough trading environment and resource constraints including a 

weak balance sheet. Key risks and management of remedial actions are continuously monitored and reviewed by all levels of 

management.

A summary of the strategic risks and mitigation measures are set out below:

Currency Fluctuations
the company reports in south african rands, the exchange rate of which varies relative to other currencies. a significant 

portion of the costs to company are incurred in foreign currencies, mainly the united states dollar. the movement of these 

currencies could have a positive or negative impact on the income, expenses and profitability of the company. unrealised and 

realised currency gains or losses may distort the financial accounts.

Safety/security incident
the safety and security of our customers and employees are fundamental values for us. failure to prevent or respond to a 

major safety or security incident could adversely impact our operations and financial performance.

in order to strengthen its safety management systems the company has implemented the following:

•	IATA	Operational	Safety	Audit	(“IOSA”)
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sa Express has a high and serious regard for aviation safety. this is achieved by utilizing a range of tools, one of which is 

iosa. iosa is internationally recognised and accepted evaluation system designed to assess the operational management and 

safety control systems of an airline. therefore, within the context of the discipline of the iosa audit structure, namely, flight, 

ground, cabin maintenance, security and dispatch we continue to test ourselves against international standards, we continue 

to benchmark ourselves to international norms. sa Express has been able to achieve unqualified audits since 2006.  We are 

very proud of this achievement. this year was the first year where we introduced Enhanced-iosa (E-iosa) within our systems. 

E-iosa is designed to allow an airline capability to test itself with internal eyes that have a more in-depth view of control 

systems, and this allows for a more robust analysis.  

Brand reputation
our brand is of significant commercial value.  Erosion of the brand, through either a single event, or series of events could 

adversely impact our position with customers and ultimately affect our future revenue and profitability.

Key Supplier Risk
the failure of a key supplier to deliver contractual obligations may cause significant disruption to operations. a close 

relationship is maintained with key suppliers in order to ensure awareness of any potential supply chain disruption. the 

company further continually monitors its key suppliers through implementing and monitoring service level agreements and 

constant engagement and ensuring that corrective action is taken on any non-adherences to ensure improvement of services 

for our customers.

Fraud prevention 
the company has a fraud prevention policy. this is supported by internal controls that prevent unethical behaviour, fraud and 

theft.  over and above the internal processes implemented to curb and report fraud activities, sa Express employs the services 

of an external service provider to handle suspected unethical and fraudulent activities. all matters reported independently and 

anonymously to the service provider are reported to the board and/or senior management for actioning. the independence 

and anonymity in which the matters are handled goes a long way in promoting improved reporting. Each report receives high-

level attention, and as action is taken, results are shared with the service provider as part of a full circle communication. 

Legal Compliance
the company complies with, amongst other legislation, the south african Express act 34 of 2007, public finance management 

act 1 of 1999 and the national treasury regulations, which provide for the company’s mandate and the regulation of financial 

management in all spheres of government to ensure that the company’s revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities are 

managed efficiently and effectively.
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the company has reviewed its compliance function resulting in the development and approval of a regulatory universe. 

furthermore, the monitoring of the company with applicable legislation and updates to legislative changes applicable is 

ongoing. 

Annual Report – Health, Safety and Environment

Aircraft Safety

1. the sa Express safety management system remains a focal point on ensuring the company lives by its core values.  

 “We never compromise on safety, no matter what” is the core value that has been maintained throughout the  

 financial period. there were various business challenges, however safety remained the company’s core focus as it  

 can be seen that the airline survived this period without any accident. 

2. there were serious incidents, however the safety of passengers remained intact and the airline continues to  

 improve its safety position by addressing human factors related incidents, in a manner that will foster a positive  

 safety culture.

3. the organisation continues to comply with various safety regulations and successful external safety audits is an  

 indication that the safety standards are still held at the highest echelon.

Environment and Sustainability

1. the sa Express carbon footprint is 183 071 tonnes co2 for this period compared to 196 308 tonnes the previous  

 year, this is 6, 7% reduction. this is attributed to schedule reduction to ensure efficiency in operations and minute  

 contribution of the single Engine taxi program. 

2. there is still however challenges in achieving the year 2020 target of 34% carbon Emission reduction, these  

 include a delay in the implementation of alternative fuels programme for state owned companies. 

3. sa Express has successfully submitted its first report to iata fuel and reporting database. the data submitted will  

 be extensively used for benchmarking and also improve carbon management reporting. as the much anticipated  

 carbon tax approaches its implementation date, sa Express is continuously working on strategies to minimise  

 carbon emissions and also implement carbon offset programmes.
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FOCUS ON HUMAN CAPITAL

the business continued to seek the best structural alignment in order to ensure that the best match between people, jobs and 

skills required exists as this is a fundamental ingredient of sa Express achieving its strategic goals. this strategy, together 

with a moratorium on all recruitment, ensured that while structures are aligned, talent and skills are deployed and matched 

to facilitate optimization of operating structures and leverage the company’s human capital thus increasing productivity at 

all levels. 

our focus was to consolidate the company’s employee value proposition to ensure robust employee engagement practices 

continued concentration on the following:

Growing the ‘best Company to work for’ brand   
sa Express continued to invest in initiatives that contribute towards ensuring that we remain on the path to be labelled the 

best company to work for. 

Development of competent transformational leaders to lead and manage change

in the financial year 2014/15, a lot of focus was put on ensuring that all employees have a basic and common understanding of 

the principles of performance management. in order to ensure that all employees are fit and ready to hold leadership positions 

as and when the need arises, performance management training was rolled out throughout the organisation. 

sa Express rounded up the supervisory skills programme (ssp) in the financial year 2014/15. 9 employees from different 

departments attended the training. these employees have been identified for the sa Express talent pipeline and are being 

prepared to fill in the next level of leadership as part of the company’s succession plan. 

 

35 employees have attended the mentorship training programme. they have volunteered to be part of the sa mentorship 

programme in which all employees that are in positions deemed to be critical and scarce, such as learners, cadets, interns and 

other junior staff members can be mentored.

Focus on growing Talent
We realized the importance of aligning our human capital strategy to the developmental objectives of the reconstruction and 

development program, while seeking consistency with the imperatives of the new growth path and the national development 

plan. to this end, sa Express has been actively involved in providing our south african youth in our critical operational with 

training and workplace exposure. We currently have 43 apprentices in the system and have managed to take on two more 

apprentices for the year 2014/15. seven cadet pilots were also enrolled and are currently receiving training. in 2013/14 south 

african Express received a discretionary grant from the transport Education and training authority to finance 10 mach ii 

cadets for a b com in aviation, as well as 10 unemployed learners on air transportation and station management training.

sa Express is to continuously seek innovative partnerships that will lower the cost of training and development whilst ensuring 

the airline maintains its leading position as a training hub.
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Labour Relations

Bargaining Unit Statistics

bargaining units statistics: all bargaining units 

the graph and table below depict the union membership in the company as a whole. from the pie chat below it is evident that 

the company does not have a union that represents the majority in terms of the 50% + 1 as indicated by the labour relations 

act.  this all in terms of the percentage split that 29% of the employees are still not union members with management 

excluded.

ausa 12%

uasa 10%

non union 29%sataWu 27%

saXpa 21%
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Employee Wellbeing

aspiring to become the best company to work for also entails promoting the wellbeing of our employees as well as taking 

a caring stance towards our employees. through an integrated Employee assistance programme, as well as employee and 

management support, sa Express was able to roll out a myriad of support initiatives that promoted the wellness of our 

employees. during the financial year 2014/15, a total of nine (9) wellness days took place in all the stations. health related 

challenges such as lack of exercise, unhealthy eating habits and hypertension were identified. interventions on helping 

employees to look after their health have been planned and will be rolled out in 2016. Employees also volunteered to 

participate in Voluntary hiV/aids counselling and testing. 

staff also participated in initiatives which are aimed at raising funds for charity geared at improving the lives of people less 

privileged in our communities. to this end, staff participated in the national bandana day, aimed toward recruitment and 

education of young donors for bone marrow and stem cells for leukaemia patients. Employees raised an amount of r3 535.57 

for the cancer shaVaton drive.
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Employment Profile
the staff compliment during the reporting period of 31 march 2015 was 1127 as compared to 1188 in march 2014. sa Express 

has implemented a moratorium on recruitment; hence the staff compliment has reduced from the previous year. tables and 

figures below provide the demographic details.

Division Female Female
Total

Male Male
Total

Grand
Total

african coloured indian White african coloured indian White

top mngt 2 2 3 1 1 5 7

snr mngt 19 19 8 5 14 33

middle mngt 7 7 15 24 5 2 16 46 60

pilots 4 1 18 23 12 3 5 171 191 214

cabin 97 27 9 19 152 12 5 5 22 174

technical 14 2 3 19 107 15 2 64 191 210

staff 113 13 6 17 149 155 17 3 16 191 340

apprentice 21 1 22 18 2 3 23 45

cadet mach 1 3 1 1 5 4 4 9

cadet mach 2 7 1 1 9 12 3 15 24

learners 6 6 5 5 11

Grand Total 293 44 20 64 421 360 48 18 280 706 1127

pilot transformation still remains a concern for the 

company and the industry at large. the sa Express 

cadet pilot programme is designed to address the 

equity challenges. We have a total of nine people with 

disabilities in our employ. industry target is 2% and we 

are at 0.08%. 

fEmalE 38%

indian 4%

colourEd 8%

malE 62% WhitE 31%

african 57%
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Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

this year, the company achieved a level 5 broad-based Economic Empowerment (bbbEE) rating; this is an 

improvement from a level 6 in 2013/14.  We are confident that beyond this cycle, the transformation agenda, 

will be driven through a strategy which cuts across the value chain in order to ensure sustainable economic 

transformation within the aviation industry and provinces of operation.

as a state owned company and corporate citizen; sa Express strived to balance between driving the 

transformation agenda mandate whilst enabling the performance needs of the business. skills development, 

preferential procurement and Enterprise development initiatives continue to be escalating costs and the limited 

number of bbbEE suppliers of critical procurement. 

the following diagnostic exists per pillar:

Management Control
significant advancement in board rotation resulted in 100% black board members of the 7 non-Executive directors, 

three are black women with aviation and financial expertise
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Employment Equity
challenges continue to be faced due to the realities of the pilot pool’s demographics and certain scarce and hard to recruit 

positions currently occupied by white males in the middle management and Junior management category. moreover, 

declaration from those living with disabilities has been snail-paced, as well as categorisation of management levels and 

supporting evidence for claims.

Skills Development
in this pillar, challenges are the alignment of training to b-bbEE training/development categories (an administrative challenge 

which is being addressed), budget, with the race and gender transformation noted as part of Employment Equity challenges in 

middle and Junior management affecting the training candidates.

Preferential Procurement
in order for sa Express to achieve its developmental objectives through transformational procurement; it has identified the 

following solutions:

 actively promote the increase in procurement from the b-bbEE enterprises and smmEs. 

  increase spend on black-owned, black Women-owned and Qualifying small Enterprise or Exempted micro-Enterprises 

based on applicable b-bbEE procurement recognition levels lacks. 

 setting of minimum weightings for b-bbEE enterprises which will be updated regularly. 

 developing a database for b-bbEE enterprises which will be updated regularly. 

 demanding b-bbEE accreditation of suppliers. 

 setting of b-bbEE development plans with suppliers where appropriate. 

Enterprise Development
though the organisation has been active in ensuring non-monetary support is extended to qualifying entities, alignment to the 

aviation sub-sector codes, which encourages sector-specific support, had been overlooked. a future Enterprise development 

road map will be established in order to address this shortcoming; a budget is set aside for projects aligned

to the aviation sector. 

the following is primary to the Ed strategy initiatives: 

 impact on transformation 

 impact on Economic growth 

 impact on skills transfer 
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Socio-Economic Development

as a corporate citizen and through the b-bbEE pillars, sa Express aims to:

 contribute towards social upliftment in south africa; 

 Endorse the process of democratisation and strive to support this process through business practices that are 

 in line with political and economic empowerment; 

  Enhance progress to comply with enterprise development requirements of the b-bbEE codes of good practice and 

government’s overall empowerment drive; 

 aligning b-bbEE initiatives with those of the shareholder compact’s social and Economic impact targets; and

 drive superior compliance to demonstrate sa Express’s commitment to b-bbEE.

 

Corporate Social Responsibility

community upliftment, social development and cohesion are strategic imperatives that inform the sa Express mission 

towards improving the quality of life of south africa’s most vulnerable segments of society. fulfilling social responsibilities 

is considered and integral component of the way sa Express conducts its business. 

over the years sa Express has strived to be a responsible and caring corporate citizen, pursuing key strategic projects that 

have enabled the airline to make meaningful contributions towards improving the quality of life of disadvantaged south 

africans.

Empowerment of women, youth development, education and training are critical subsets of these categories. the involvement 

of sa Express staff in csi projects is a critical element of the company’s strategic focus.

sa Express is looking forward to evolving our socio-economic interests to increase and broaden not only our impact, but 

the spectrum of our beneficiaries.

Aviation Career Days

sa Express helps connect small and bigger cities and through identifying more pilots, it can better service these areas. 

through these aviation career days, we hope that we will be able to inspire, motivate, identify and support future pilots 

who will ensure that we continue to be the leader in the transformation of critical scarce skills. 

Socio-Economic Development

as part of our contribution to improving the lives of south african communities, we have identified strategic socio-economic 

development initiatives that are worthy of support as part of our social and transformation agenda.

Emphasis was placed on promoting social inclusion and integration through education and youth empowerment. this 

included interventions that are aimed at improving the quality of life of south africa’s most vulnerable societal segments, 

with the focus on women, children and youth.

65



66



corporatE goVErnancE

67



corporate governance report

Introduction
sa Express soc limited (sa Express) was established in terms of the south african Express act 34 of 2007 (the founding 

legislation) and incorporated as a state owned company in terms of the companies act 71 of 2008 as amended (the 

companies act).

sa Express continues to strive to fully comply with the requirements of the companies act; the public finance management 

act 1 of 1999, as amended; principles of King code iii and the protocol on corporate governance in the public sector 

whilst upholding specific best practices such as accountability, transparency, fairness and responsibility.

Interaction between the Board and the Shareholder
in terms of its founding legislation, the minister of public Enterprises assumes and exercises all rights attaching to sa 

Express shares and interests; including the rights as shareholder representative on behalf of the government of south 

africa. the board regularly interacts with the shareholder through the chairperson of the board. the chairperson is the 

point of contact regarding interaction with both the shareholder and parliament. the chairperson, together with the 

cEo attends parliamentary sessions to update the portfolio committee on public Enterprises on a number of strategic 

issues involving the company and the audited annual financial statements. in addition to regular interaction between 

the chairperson and the minister of public Enterprises, the board also reports to the shareholder at the annual general 

meeting. the last annual general meeting took place on 27 march 2015.

The Board of Directors
the sa Express board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. the board acknowledges that good 

governance is integral to a successful enterprise and critical towards business integrity. the board ultimately takes overall responsibility 

of directing the strategic objectives of the business.
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Composition 

the current board, appointed on 22 may 2015, comprises a majority of non-Executive directors. the chairperson of the board 

is a non-Executive director. the role of the chairperson is separate from that of the chief Executive officer as the board 

believes that separation of powers and responsibilities ensures appropriate balance of authority between the board and 

management

Role and Function of the Board

the board is accountable to the shareholder for determining strategy and the overall business of the company. a formal 

shareholder compact determining strategic objectives of the company is in the process of being concluded between 

the board and the shareholder for the year under review. the board has the ultimate responsibility for the strategic 

management and performance of the company.

the board has a formal, documented charter which states that the directors of south african Express retain overall 

responsibility and accountability for the company, its strategic direction and corporate plan and budget.

the chief Executive officer’s day to day management of the business is based on clear and precise delegation of authority 

for the implementation of the strategy. the directors are advised on the operations of the business throughout the year 

via regular cEo’s reports at board sessions and regular electronic updates.

the directors had access to the advice and services of the company secretary. unrestricted access to all company 

information, records and documents were also given to the directors on request. in addition, the directors were entitled 

to independent professional advice at the company’s expense.

The Board’s role and responsibilities included, amongst others:

 setting the strategic direction of the company;

 reviewing and monitoring the management and performance of the business by management;

 recommending the appointment of the External auditors to the shareholder;

 determining broad strategic policy decisions;

 Ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources are in place to enable the company to meet its strategic  

 objectives;

2015

69



 Ensuring sustainability of the organization to ensure that it is capable of fulfilling its commercial objectives and  

 statutory obligations;

 fulfilment of its fiduciary duty in accordance with the principles of good governance;

 Effective reporting and accountability to the shareholder and other regulatory bodies;

 Exercising of due care, skill and good faith in the execution of its duties;

 Ensuring that effective audit, risk management and compliance systems are in place to protect the company’s assets;

 delegating certain responsibilities to the chief Executive officer;

 reviewing and monitoring the performance of the chief Executive officer and chief financial officer;

 approval of the annual budget and business plan for the company;

 approval, subject to shareholder’s consent, of all major transactions within the ambit of section 54 of the public  

 finance management act and the significant and materiality framework;and

 consideration and approval of the annual financial statements and dividend policy;

Board Meetings

the board met regularly during the period under review and meetings are scheduled in advance in accordance with the 

board annual calendar which sets out matters for discussion at each meeting. 

the board meetings focus on strategic issues and the overall performance of the company. directors are entitled to propose 

additional matters for discussion by the board. resolutions of the board were taken by way of directors’ written resolutions 

in terms of the provisions of the memorandum of incorporation (moi), where necessary. some of these were distributed as 

written resolutions on a round robin basis, as provided for in the moi. such matters were deliberated by the board prior to 

circulation of the respective written resolutions including arranging management interviews. resolutions were supported 

by a full business case and/or motivation. during the said process, the directors were afforded time to apply their minds to 

the matter at hand, prior to approval of the circulated resolution. management ensured that the board is provided with all 

relevant information and facts to enable them to make appropriate and informed decisions.

minutes of the meetings are kept in the minute books for the relevant year and access to the said minutes was given to both 

internal and External auditors for auditing.

the following reflects the number of meetings and attendance of the directors for the year under review

register of meetings and attendance
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The following reflects the number of meetings and attendance of the Directors for the year under review:

Interaction between the Board and Management
Executive management was given access to interact with the board via various presentations at board meetings. non-
Executive directors have access to Executive management and may meet with Executive management in the absence of 
Executive directors present. such meetings are facilitated through the office of the company secretary upon request.

Disclosure of Interest 

all directors disclose their interest in other companies either in the form of shares held, directorship or business dealings. 

there were no declarations of interest registered in contracts held directly or indirectly with sa Express during the year 

under review. the company secretary is obliged to ensure that the company does not enter into any contracts with any of 

the business interests of the directors, without such information first being considered by the board in order to establish 

the nature and extent of the conflict of interest.

Section 54 (2) (PFMA) Transaction/s

the pfma submission made in the year under review was a pre-notification for replacement of aircraft.

Board Committees
in line with the requirements of the King code iii and the protocol on corporate governance in the public sector, the following 

committees duly assisted the board in discharging its duties and responsibilities. the various committees continued 

throughout the year to act and perform functions delegated to them in accordance with clear terms of reference. 

these committees were reconstituted on 22 may 2015 and continue to meet independently of the board and are all chaired by 

non-Executive directors. the majority of the members of these committees are non-Executive directors. these committees 

were also assisted by the company secretary in the performance of their duties.

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE 1 APRIL 2014 - 31 MARCH 2015

Board 13/05/14 02/06/14 09/06/14
telecom

13/08/14 12/11/14 19/01/15 23/02/15 18/03/15

a. mabizela √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

b. dibate X √ √ √ √ X √ √

n. gxumisa √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

E. mabyana √ X √ √ √ √ √ √

n. moshimane √ √ X √ √ X X X

g. mothema X X √ √ X X √ √

K nondumo X √ √ √ √ √ √ √

b ssamula √ √ √ X √ √ √ √

i. ntshanga cEo √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √
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these committees are:

Audit & Risk Committee: 

ms. K. nondumo  chairperson

ms. n. moshimane non-Executive director 

dr.  b. ssamula  non-Executive director

Register of Meetings and Attendance

although the following person/s attended per invitation, they attended the majority of meetings held by the committee: 

mr. s. struwig auditor general of south sfrica (External audit service)

mr. i. ntshanga chief Executive officer

mr. Z. ngwena chief financial officer

ms. K. hlalele internal audit

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE 1 APRIL 2014 - 31 MARCH 2015

audit and risK 06/05/14 04/11/2014 18/08/14 23/03/15

K. nondumo √ √ √ √

n. moshimane X X √ X

b. ssamula √ √ √ √

g. mothema √ √ √ √

i. ntshanga (cEo) √ √ √ √

m. shelley (cfo) √ √ √ √

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee: 

comprising:

ms. b. dibate chairperson

dr. b. ssamula  non-Executive director 

mr. g. mothema  non-Executive director 

mr. E. mabyana   non-Executive director

Register of Meetings and Attendance

although the following person/s attended per invitation, they attended the majority of meetings held by the committee: 

mr. i. ntshanga chief Executive officer

ms. K. nkala gm: human capital

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE 1 APRIL 2014 - 31 MARCH 2015

DIRECTOR 08/05/14 09/07/14 15/10/14

b. dibate √ √ √

g. mothema √ √ √

E mabyana √ X X

n gxumisa √ √ √

b ssamula √ √ √

i ntshanga (cEo) √ √ √
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Safety, Security, Health, Environmental and Quality Committee:

comprising:

dr. b. ssamula chairperson

ms. n. gxumisa    non-Executive director 

ms. b. dibate non-Executive director

Register of Meetings and AttendanceSAFETY, SECURITY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND QUALITY COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE 1 APRIL 2014 - 31 MARCH 2015

DIRECTOR 08/05/14 09/07/14 15/10/14

b. ssamula √ √ √

b. dibate √ √ √

n. gxumisa X √ √ 

 i ntshanga (cEo) √ √ √

although the following person/s attended per invitation, they attended the majority of meetings held by the committee: 

mr. i. ntshanga  chief Executive officer

mr. p. mashaba  gm: technical

 

Social and Ethics Committee: 

comprising:

ms. n. gxumisa   chairperson

mr. E. mabyana     non-Executive director 

mr. g. mothema    non-Executive director

Register of Meetings and AttendanceSOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE 1 APRIL 2014 - 31 MARCH 2015

DIRECTOR 08/05/14 09/07/15 15/10/14

n. gxumisa √ √ √

b. dibate √ √ √

g. mothema √ √ X

E. mabyana √ X X

intshanga (cEo) √ √ √

although the following person/s attended per invitation, they attended the majority 

of meetings held by the committee: 

mr. i. ntshanga   chief Executive officer

ms. m. (chueu) mochoele    gm:  legal, risk and compliance 

ms. K. nkala   gm: human capital 
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Audit & Risk Committee
as stated above, the audit and risk committee for the period under review comprised three non-Executive directors all of 

whom possessed the necessary degree of financial knowledge, skill and insight. 

the committee was reconstructed with effect from 22 may 2015 and now comprises four non-Executive directors.

the arc is able to undertake the requisite review of accurate financial reporting and statements in compliance with 

the companies act, international financial reporting standards as well as other applicable legislative requirements and 

accounting standards. in addition the arc serves to assist the board with financial reporting, risk management, integrity of 

financial statements including internal controls, accounting policies, financial performance and compliance with the public 

finance management act, international financial reporting standards and all other applicable legislation in respect of financial 

matters. in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the committee regularly reviewed management accounts and financial 

statements. this included a discussion on the quality and acceptability of the accounting principles, the reasonableness of 

significant judgments and the adequacy of disclosures in the financial statements.

although the sa Express board is ultimately responsible for all risk management activities, the oversight responsibility lies 

with the audit & risk committee. in terms of the treasury policy, there is a requirement for establishment of a financial 

risk sub-committee which reports to the arc via the management (Executive committee). this committee was established 

in line with the delegated authority to Executive management by the board as approved in terms of section 66 (6) of the 

public finance management act by the minister of finance.

the arc reported that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its audit and risk committee charter, has 

regulated its affairs in compliance with the charter, and has attempted to discharge its responsibility as contained in the 

charter.  

 

__________________________________________________________________

chairperson of the audit and risk committee
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Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
for the period under review the committee comprised of four non-Executive directors responsible for the overall 

competitive remuneration policies and determines on behalf of the board, the remuneration of directors.  the committee was 

reconstructed with effect from 22 may 2015 and now comprises three non-Executive directors with these same duties.

the committee further determines the terms and conditions of employment of the Executive directors. in determining the 

remuneration policies, comparative industry surveys are provided by the company’s human resources department to enable 

the committee to take heed of issues such as market norms, skills retention and performance of the company. insofar as the 

directors are concerned, the committee operates with clear terms of reference and applies the soE’s remuneration guidelines 

developed by the department of public Enterprises.

the remuneration philosophy of sa Express is to attract, develop, and retain key individuals and reinforce superior 

performance in order to maximise profitability. the company remuneration policies are aligned to the strategic objectives 

of the business. the committee believes that the incentive scheme linked to company and individual employee performance 

plays a pivotal role in retention of staff. during the year under review the committee formally adopted the terms and 

objectives of the shareholders compact as the formal Key performance indicators (Kpi’s) for the chief Executive officer. the 

committee believes the cEo is best placed as the delegated member of the board to execute the board’s strategic Kpi’s as 

agreed with the shareholder. Executive directors do not have a fixed term of service. all non-Executive directors are subject 

to retirement by rotation and re-election by the shareholder at least once every three years in accordance with the protocol 

on corporate governance in the public sector. despite these, the shareholder is entitled to appoint directors at every annual 

general meeting.

the committee discussed all aspects of remuneration of employees including that of Executives. the remuneration of 

employees is, as far as possible, aligned to and influenced by the interests of the shareholder, market indicators, performance 

of the company and employees’ overall contribution towards the growth of the company.

non-Executive director remuneration was approved by the shareholder at the annual general meeting held on 27 march 2015. 

the remuneration policy will be reviewed in line with the soE remuneration guidelines as provided by the department of 

public Enterprises.
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the remuneration of the non-Executive directors consists of an annual fee paid quarterly in arrears.  basic salaries of 

Executive directors are set at competitive market rates in terms of the soc’s remuneration guidelines and are subject to 

annual review. the review is based on the performance of the company in terms of the shareholders compact. the full details 

are provided in a table below in this report.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

______________________________________________________________________________________________________

chairperson of the human resources and remuneration committee

Name Total 2014 FY Total 20145 FY Notes

i ntshanga cEo 2 417 976 2 417 976

m shelley - 246 125 appointed 01 february 2015

Z ngwenya cfo 1 783 000 1 011 510 terminated 31 march 2014

d allanby 1 776 158 1 776 158

W hermanus 1 521 269 1 935 048

K nkala 1 161 756 1 161 756

m mochoele 1 250 000 1 250 000

p mashaba 1 680 000 1 680 000

b van Wyk 1 361 038 1 361 038

Name Total  FY2014 Total  FY2015

b ssamula 347 615 342 688 rotated april 2015

a mabizela 702 912 624 811 rotated april 2015

K nondumo 276 590 262 312 rotated april 2015

b dibate 262 312 326 545

n moshimane 221 198 178 188 rotated april 2015

n gxumisa 276 590 326 545 rotated april 2015

p mabyana 250 084 250 084 resigned 29 June 2015

g mothema 250 084 250 084

Remuneration of Executive Management 
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Safety, Security, Health, Environment and Quality Committee
for the period under review the committee comprised of two non-Executive directors. the committee was reconstructed 

with effect from 22 may 2015 and now comprises three non-Executive directors. the Executive manager responsible for 

safety, security, health and Environment attended all the meetings of the committee. the committee operated within its 

delegated terms of reference and reported all activities to the board at every meeting.

The overall key responsibilities of the Committee are to:
  Ensure that issues pertaining to safety, health and environment are aligned to the overall business strategy  

 	  of the company and are geared towards compliance with international norms and practices;

  consider and approve the corporate safety, health and environmental strategy and policies; monitor  

   compliance with such strategy and policies;

 	 consider and approve major safety, health and environmental projects;

 	 Ensure that its members are informed about the significant impact on the company in the safety, health  

   and environmental field and how these are managed (process and activities);

 	 review the structure, adequacy and effectiveness of the safety, health and environment committee within  

   the company including review of any terms of reference for the same;

	  review the scope of and results of any safety, health and environment audit and the effectiveness of the  

   company’s safety, health and environment policies and procedures and such audit’s cost effectiveness and  

   the independence and objectivity of the audit body; and

 	 consider the major findings of internal and external investigations and management’s response thereto  

   and,  where necessary make recommendations to the board in respect of the same; and

 	 deal with any other matters formally delegated by the board to the committee from time to time, including  

   but not limited to matters relating to security and quality assurance.

the  committee meetings this year focused on proper implementation of processes to ensure improvement in the quality 

of maintenance and reduction of incidents. furthermore, the carbon mitigation strategy was developed and approved, 

which will  enable the airline to proactively contribute to south africa’s commitment to the carbon reduction program. the 

committee continues to uphold safety as a priority in assisting sa Express in the next 20 years of its existence.

________________________________________________________

b dibate

chairperson safety, security, health, Environment and Quality committee
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Social and Ethics Committee
the social and Ethics committee was established by the board of directors of south african Express on 26 June 2012, in line 

with the requirements of section 72(4) of the companies act of 2008.  the committee operates under the terms of reference 

approved by the board which is reviewed annually.  

the government has, over the years, introduced a number of legislation to address compliance such as broad-based black 

Economic Empowerment, corporate governance and Employment Equity, to help deal with the social and ethical matters in 

the workplace. Where there is limited or no legislation, there are international declarations and industry charters to guide 

the committee.

sa Express supports the 10 principles of the united nations global compact and is committed to the new growth path.  We 

are also committed to engaging in collaborative projects that advance the broader development goals of the united nations, 

in particular the millennium development goals. the organisation has committed to supporting public accountability and 

transparency as well as submitting an annual communication on progress (cop) to the united nations, describing the 

company’s efforts to implement the 10 principles.

the committee continues to provide oversight as the organisation continues to embed legislation codes of best practice 

essential to the core business of the airline.  We continue to formulate an agenda that fully complies with the requirements 

of the companies act. in situations where duplication in the oversight roles exists with other board sub-committees, the 

committee ensures that information and decision making is shared among the relevant board sub-committees.

during the year under review, the committee placed more emphasis on the review of the company’s code of Ethics to ensure 

that it is in line with national legislation, as well as ensure that the employees of the company are well informed of the code.

furthermore, the committee monitored the company’s involvement in corporate social investment (csi) projects, aimed at 

bettering the lives of others.  the committee has monitored sa Express’ activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, 

other legal requirements or prevailing codes of best practice, with regard to matters relating to social and economic 

development such as, but not limited to, human rights, labour, the Environment and anti-corruption.

_______________________________________________________________________________________

chairperson social and Ethics committee 

Company Secretary’s Compliance Statement
in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the companies act no 71 of 2008, i certify that the company has lodged with the registrar of

companies all such returns as are required of a state owned company in respect of the year ended 31 march 2014 and that to 

the best of my knowledge and belief, all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

_____________________________________________________________________________________

the company secretary statucor (pty) ltd crisna Erasmus
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Statement of Predetermined Objectives
compact performance is reported as part of the management accounts, which are submitted to the shareholder on a monthly 

basis and discussed at the scheduled monthly meetings with national treasury and the department of public Enterprises. 

additional performance measures tracked in the year under review were contained within annexure a – strategic deliverables 

of the shareholder compact 2014/15, which included the following:

Key Performance Area Description of deliverables Delivery 
timetables

Progress 
Tracker

SA Express Sustainability 
Framework

Economic dividends 30-sept-14 achieved

social dividends 30-sept-14 achieved

Environmental dividends 30-sept-14 achieved

Cost Containment provide an approved comprehensive plan for cost containment for the
2014/15 financial year

31-may-14 achieved

SAX 20/20 Vision provide a comprehensive implementation plan for the saX 20/20 vision
(in consideration with the ltts)

Quarterly 
report

achieved

Africa Regional Expansion develop a short, medium to long-term strategy to improve intra-africa 
connectivity and  expansion

Quarterly 
report

achieved

achieved

provide an update on the intra-africa connectivity and expansion Quarterly 
report

achieved

Policy and regulation on-going compliance with competition policy and act and air 
transport regulations

Quarterly achieved

full co-operation with the department to finalise joint position on 
whole of state policy:
·        input for the development of the fly sa policy 30-sep-14 achieved

·        report on the review of current air transport policies 30-sep-14 achieved

regulatory and compliance framework ongoing  achieved

Research and Development 
Excellence

submission of research & development plan 31-may-14  not achieved

implementation plan Quarterly 
report

 not achieved

Internal Controls review internal control processes - plan 31-may-14  achieved

report on internal control processes Quarterly 
report

achieved

Contract management review of rebate policy and recommendation for the improvement 
current processes

30-sep-14 achieved

report the progress on addressing the following:

·        onerous labour agreements Quarterly 
report

achieved

·        service level agreements of suppliers to ensure service integrity 
and cost competitiveness

Quarterly 
report

achieved

·        saX and saa existing commercial agreements Quarterly 
report

achieved

SAX Shareholder’s Compact - April 2014

Annexure A: Strategic Deliverables

79



Annexure B: Operational Performance

ANNEXURE B:   STRATEGIC DELIVERABLES

Key Performance Area Key performance indicator unit of 
measure

2014/15 target ytd 
mar’15 
actual

progress  
tracker  

achieve a sustainable, profitable operation in all market segments namely: domestic and regional markets. achieve recurring sustain-
able earnings as follows

Sustainable Cash Posi-
tion

rasK (total income) cents 1.2 1  achieved 

casK (total operating expens-
es + leases + depreciation)

cents 0.94 1  not achieved 

casK (excluding fuel costs) cents 0.82 1  not achieved 

net profit/(loss) after tax r’m 18 -132  not achieved 

net cash position r’m neutral r25  achieved 

Ebitda percent-
age

4% 0.80%  not achieved 

debt/Equity ratio ratio 4.6:1 2:18:1  not achieved 

cargo 1% of total revenue percent-
age

1% 1%  achieved 

to improve operational Efficiencies as follows and execute in a flawless manner

Improve Operational 
Efficiencies

passenger load factor percent-
age

71% 61%  not achieved 

daily block hours per aircraft 
(weekdays)

hours 8 6  not achieved 

revenue per employee r’m 2.2 2.4  achieved 

To deliver customer service in a consistent manner

Customer Centricity on-time performance (within 
15 minutes of scheduled 
departure time)

percent-
age

90% 87%  not achieved 

bags mishandled per 10000 
pax

number 3.8 0.08  achieved 
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ANNEXURE C: SOCIAL IMPACT 

Key Performance Area Key performance indicator unit of 
measure

2014/15 target ytd 
mar’15 
actual

Developmental 
Objectives

improve human capital transformation on the following programmes and 
ensure skills development objectives are met as follows

learners intake target number of new en-
trants in fy2015

artisan trainees number 10 2  not achieved 

cadet pilot trainees number 20 7  not achieved 

semi-skilled and skilled Work-
ers learner-ships

number 21 0  not achieved 

Experiential learners/gradu-
ate trainees

number 10 0  not achieved 

training spend as a % of levi-
able amount

percent-
age

5% 5%  achieved 

Jobs created number 20 29  achieved 

Corporate Social 
Investment

csi budget percent-
age

 2% of npat 2.7%  achieved 

ANNEXURE D: ECONOMIC IMPACT

transformation procure-
ment

% total local spend percent-
age

60% 60%  achieved 

% total bbbEE spend 

·          % black owned percent-
age

40% 5%  not achieved 

·          QsE/EmE percent-
age

40% 14%  not achieved 

ANNEXURE E: ENERGY EFFICIENCY

Energy Efficiency  reduction and offsetting of 
emissions  
5% year on year – 2018

grams, 
tonnes 
and co2

158 174  not achieved 

reduction of energy utilisation 
in corporate building 

to be de-
termined

to be reviewed
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the 2014/15 shareholder compact agreed with the shareholder constituted of 45 Key performance indicators. the focus 

of the shareholder due to the airlines continued precarious financial position was on financial Value creation measures. 

it is important to note that sa Express managed to achieve only 62.2% of the 45 indicators. the airline however failed to 

achieve the majority of the financial targets compacted due to the escalating operating cost, increased competition and 

airline sector challenges such as the dollar rand exchange fluctuations.

as per the challenges experienced in the airline operating sector and the cost of training and development, sa Express 

failed to achieve the majority of developmental objectives indicators. the airline is to continuously seek new partnerships 

to ensure the airline is able to train pilots and technicians at a sustainable rate. however, the airline is to improve the 

operational Efficiencies and customer centricity as these targets have not been achieved. the airline has a target of 91% on-

time performance; the airline has still achieved a noteworthy 88%. the targets addressing the corporate social investment, 

and Energy efficiency indicators were not achieved. in addition, as referred earlier, the rasK and casK (including and 

excluding fuel costs), revenue per employee, daily block hours and the number of bags mishandled were all achieved under 

sustainable cash position. sa Express had targeted a profit of r69m; due to operational and funding challenges the airline 

achieved a net loss of r132m. 

the entity is continuing with its cost-saving and cost avoidance initiatives implemented in 2013/14 and continuing to date. 

these initiatives are to mitigate against the escalating operating costs. the airline has managed to improve its cash position 

to r25m which is a marked improved from the prior year’s negative r6m cash position. 

in addition, the net profit after tax, casK (total operating expenses leases plus depreciation) ; Ebitda, debt to Equity ratio 

, passenger load factor , daily block hours per aircraft and otp were not achieved. csi budget of 2% net profit after tax was 

surpassed and a value of 2.7% of npat was achieved. the airline is to focus on total bbbEE spent as the entity failed in its 

target of services procured from black owned enterprises. 

sa Express achieved 62.2% of the targets. sa Express was able to submit 19 out of 21 of the strategic deliverables in the 

year under review
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the reports and statements set out below comprise the annual financial statements presented to the shareholder:
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

the directors are required in terms of the companies act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are 

responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in 

this report. it is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 

company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 

conformity with international financial reporting standards. the external auditors are engaged to express an independent 

opinion on the annual financial statements.

the annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards and are 

based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 

and estimates.

the directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 

the company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. to enable the directors to 

meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 

effective manner. the standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 

accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. these controls are monitored 

throughout the company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company’s 

business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. the focus of risk management 

in the company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While 

operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 

controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

the directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that the system of internal 

control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 

statements. however, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 

against material misstatement or loss.

the directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 march 2016 and, in light of this review and 

the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company has or had access to adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future.

the external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the company’s annual financial statements. 

the annual financial statements have been examined by the company’s external auditors and their report is presented on 

pages 92 to 99.

the annual financial statements set out on pages 100 to 137, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 

approved by the board on 31 July 2015 and were signed on their behalf by:

               

          

___________________________       ________________________________

g. mothema        i. ntshanga
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Directors’ Report

the directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of south african Express soc ltd for the year 
ended 31 march 2015.

1. Review of financial results and activities

the annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards and the require-
ments of the companies act 71 of 2008 and the public finance management act. the accounting policies have been applied consistently 
compared to the prior year.

full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company are set out in these annual financial statements.

2. Share capital

there have been no changes to the authorised or issued share capital during the year under review.

3. Dividends

the company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim and a final dividend in respect of each financial year. at its 

discretion, the board may consider a special dividend where appropriate. depending on the perceived need to retain funds 

for expansion or operating purposes, the board may pass on the payment of dividends.

given the current state of the global economic environment, the board believes that it would be more appropriate for the 

company to conserve cash and maintain adequate debt headroom to ensure that the company is best placed to withstand 

any prolonged adverse economic conditions. therefore the board has resolved not to declare a dividend for the financial 

year ended 31 march 2015.

4. Directorate

the directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Office Designation Changes

g.mothema chairperson non-executive appointed 01 february 2015

i.ntshanga chief Executive officer Executive

b.dibate non-executive

n.moshimane non-executive resigned 28 January 2015

a.mabizela chairperson non-executive resigned 19 february 2015

b.ssamula chairperson non-executive resigned 21 may 2015

K.nondumo non-executive resigned 21 may 2015

n.gxumisa non-executive resigned 21 may 2015

E.mabyana non-executive resigned 11 July 2015

m.shelley chief financial officer Executive appointed 22 may 2015

t.abrahams non-executive appointed 22 may 2015

r.naithani non-executive appointed 22 may 2015

p .ramosebudi non-executive appointed 22 may 2015

g.sibiya non-executive appointed 22 may 2015

n.nkabinde non-executive appointed 22 may 2015
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5. Directors’ interests in contracts

during the financial year, no contracts were entered into which directors or officers of the company had an interest and 

which significantly affected the business of the company.

6. Borrowing powers

in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the company, the directors may exercise all the powers of the company to 

borrow money, as they consider appropriate, within the mandate of the public finance management act of 1999.

 

7. Events after the reporting period

b ssamula, K nondumo, n gxumisa and E mabyane resigned from the board of directors.

b mathebula resigned as the company secretary.

 during may 2015, damages were sastained to an aircraft in the fleet.  although a claim has been submitted to the insurer, 

no assessment has yet been received. management is of the opinion that it is unlikely that the aircraft will be scrapped. 

the directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this 

report.

8. Going concern

the directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future 

and accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. the directors have satisfied 

themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet 

its foreseeable cash requirements. the directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the 

company. the directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of 

any pending changes to legislation which may affect the company.

briefly, below are some of the factors that the directors considered to ensure that the going concern assumption is 

appropriate:

 the company has received an extension of r539 million on it’s inital government guarantee as well as a new  

 government guarantee of r567 million to serve as security against its debts;

 negotiations have been and continue to be held with funders;

 no legislative, regulatory or policy changes that negatively affect and impact the company have been made;

 the company has made significant cost savings and further savings are expected to be made in the foreseeable  

 future; and

 no suppliers have withdrawn their support to the company.

further to the above points, the company’s going concern status is also informed by its 2020 Vision, the funding plan and the

long-term turnaround strategy that will be implemented.

9. Auditors

auditor-general of south africa continued in office as auditors for the company for 2015.

at the agm, the shareholder will be requested to reappoint auditor-general of south africa as the independent external 

auditors of the company  for the 2016 financial year.
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10.   Secretary

the company secretary statucor (pty) ltd crisna Erasmus

Business address

2nd floor

E block offices

airways park

1 Jones road

gauteng

1627

Postal address

p.o. box 101

o.r. tambo international airport
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON SOUTH AFRICAN EXPRESS AIRWAYS SOC LIMITED

Report on the financial statements

Introduction

1. i have audited the financial statements of south african Express airways soc limited set out on pages 100 to  

 140, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 march 2015, the statement of profit or loss and  

 other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,  

 as well as the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

2. the board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair  

 presentation of these financial statements in accordance with international financial reporting standards (ifrs)  

 and the requirements of the public finance management act of south africa, 1999 (act no. 1 of 1999) (pfma) and  

 the companies act of south africa, 2008 (act no. 71 of 2008), and for such internal control as the accounting  

 authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material  

 misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3. my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. i conducted my  

 audit in accordance with international standards on auditing. those standards require that i comply with ethical  

 requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial   

 statements are free from material misstatement.

4. an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the  

 financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of  

 the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those 

  risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation  

 of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not  

 for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. an audit also   

 includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting  

 estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

5. i believe that the audit evidence i have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified  

 audit opinion.

 

Basis for qualified opinion

Property plant and equipment

6. during 2014, i was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the rotables balance   

 accounted for as part of property, plant and equipment due to inadequate recordkeeping by the entity nor was i  

 able to confirm the balance by alternative means. consequently, i was unable to determine whether any   

 adjustment to the corresponding figure to property, plant and equipment stated at r278 332 278 (2013: r30 606  

 222) was necessary.
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  my audit opinion on the financial statements for the period ended 2014 was modified accordingly. my opinion  

 on the current period’s financial statements is also modified because of the possible effect of this matter on the  

 comparability of the current period’s figures.

Inventory

7. during 2014, i was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the inventory balance due to  

 inadequate recordkeeping by the entity nor was i able to confirm the balance by alternative means. consequently,  

 i was unable to determine whether any adjustment to the corresponding figure to inventory stated at r175 178  

 302 (2013: r85 582 349) was necessary. my audit opinion on the financial statements for the period ended 2014  

 was modified accordingly. my opinion on the current period’s financial statements is also modified because of the  

 possible effect of this matter on the comparability of the current period’s figures.

Taxation effects 

8. due to the possible effects of the limitations as described in paragraphs 6 and 7 above, i was unable to obtain  

 sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support the account balances and class of transactions considered in the  

 computation of the deferred tax asset for the financial year ended 31 march 2014. consequently, i was unable to  

 determine whether any adjustment was necessary relating to the corresponding figure to the deferred tax asset  

 stated at r240 213 304 (2013: r159 122 113) in note 6 to the financial statements.

Trade and other receivables

9. during the current year, the entity recognised as an asset the maintenance reserve balance even though it has no  

 established right or control over funds paid to the lessor until a claim is submitted, assessed and accepted by the  

 lessor and therefore do not meet the definition of an asset in accordance with ias 1 presentation of financial  

 statements read with the framework for preparation and presentation of the financial statements. consequently,  

 trade receivables are overstated by r46 112 156 (2014: 10 940 288) and there was a resultant impact on the  

 reported  total comprehensive loss for the year and accumulated loss. 

Irregular expenditure

10. during 2014, i was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for the irregular expenditure   

 disclosed  in note 38 to the financial statements due to the entity not having an adequate system for   

 identifying and disclosing irregular expenditure nor was i able to confirm the balance by alternative means.  

 consequently, i was unable to determine whether any adjustment to the irregular expenditure disclosed as r3  

 406 717 (2014: r3 407 717) was necessary. my audit opinion on the financial statements for the period ended  

 2014 was modified accordingly. my opinion on the current period’s financial statements is also modified because  

 of the possible effect of this matter on the comparability of the current period’s figures.

Qualified opinion 

11. in my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the basis for qualified opinion   

 paragraphs, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of south african  

 Express airways soc limited as at 31 march 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then  

 ended, in accordance with ifrs and the requirements of the pfma and companies act.
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Emphasis of matters

12. i draw attention to the matters below. my opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Government guarantee

13. the accounting authority’s report on page 86 and note X to the financial statements indicates that the south  

 african Express airways soc limited was granted an extension of the existing guarantee relating to covenant  

 breaches and working capital and an additional guarantee for further working capital and asset based finance  

 facilities. the guarantees were granted subject to certain conditions. the guarantee arrangements   

 from the shareholder will reach capacity on 28 february 2020.

Restatement of corresponding figures 

14. as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 march 2014 financial year  

 have been restated as a result of an error discovered during 31 march 2015 financial year in the financial   

 statements of south african Express airways soc limited at, and for the year ended, 31 march 2014. 

Additional matter

15. i draw attention to the matter below. my opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other reports required by the Companies Act 

16. as part of my audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 march 2015, i have read the directors’ report,  

 the audit committee’s report and the company secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there  

 are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. these reports are the  

 responsibility of the respective preparers. based on reading these reports i have not identified material   

 inconsistencies between the reports and the audited financial statements in respect of which i have expressed a  

 qualified opinion. i have not audited the reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on them. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

17. in accordance with the public audit act of south africa, 2004 (act no. 25 of 2004) (paa) and the general notice  

 issued in terms thereof, i have a responsibility to report findings on the reported performance information against  

 predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance report, compliance with  

 legislation and internal control. the objective of my tests was to identify reportable findings as described under  

 each subheading but not to gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. accordingly, i do not express  

 an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

18. i performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance  

 information for the following selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the public entity  

 for the year ended 31 march 2015:

 sustainable cash position on pages 93 
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 improve operational efficiencies on page 95

 developmental objectives on page 96

 transformation procurement on page 96

 saX 20/20 vision on pages 96

 african regional Expansion on pages 97

 policy and regulation on pages 97

19. i evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

20. i evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in  

 accordance with the national treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance was  

 consistent with the planned objectives. i further performed tests to determine whether indicators and targets  

 were well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the national   

 treasury’s framework for managing programme performance information (fmppi).

21. i assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and  

 complete.

22. the material findings in respect of the selected objectives are as follows: 

Sustainable cash position

Usefulness of reported performance information

23.  the fmppi requires that the targets should be specific in clearly identifying the nature and required   

level of performance. a total of 25% of the targets were not specific.

24. the fmppi requires that the targets should be measurable. a total of 25% of the targets were not measurable.

 reliability of reported performance information

25. the fmppi requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance   

 information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned objectives,  

 indicators and targets. significantly important targets relating to the objective of sustainable cash position were  

 not reliable when compared to the source information and evidence provided.

Improve operational efficiencies

Usefulness of reported performance information

26. i did not raise any material findings on the usefulness of the reported performance information relating to  

 improve operational efficiencies.

Reliability of reported performance information

27. the fmppi requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance   

 information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned objectives,  

 indicators and targets. significantly important targets relating to the objective of improved operational   

 efficiencies were not reliable when compared to the source information or evidence provided.
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Developmental objectives

Usefulness of reported performance information

28. treasury regulation 30.1.3(g) requires the corporate plan to form the basis for the annual report, therefore  

 requiring consistency of objectives, indicators and targets between planning and reporting documents. 33% of  

 the reported targets were not consistent with those in the approved corporate plan.

Reliability of reported performance information

29. i did not raise any material findings on the reliability of the reported performance information relating to   

 developmental objectives.

Transformation procurement

Usefulness of reported performance information

30.  the fmppi requires that the indicators should be well defined by having clear definitions so that data can be  

 collected consistently and is easy to understand and use. all of the indicators for the objective were not well defined.

31. the fmppi requires that the targets should be specific in clearly identifying the nature and required level of  

 performance. all of the targets were not specific.

Reliability of reported performance information

32. the fmppi requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance   

 information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned objectives,  

 indicators and targets. significantly important indicators and targets relating to the objective of transformation  

 procurement were not reliable when compared to the source information or evidence provided.

SAX 20/20 vision

usefulness of reported performance information

33. i did not raise any material findings on the usefulness of the reported performance information relating to the saX  

 20/20 vision.

Reliability of reported performance information

34. the fmppi requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance   

 information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned objectives,  

 indicators and targets. the reported performance information was not valid, accurate and complete when   

 compared to the source information or evidence provided.
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African regional expansion 

Usefulness of reported performance information

35. the fmppi requires that the indicators should be well defined by having clear definitions so that data can be  

 collected  consistently and is easy to understand and use. all of the indicators for the objective were not well defined.

Reliability of reported performance information

36. the fmppi requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance   

 information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned objectives,  

 indicators and targets. the reported performance information was not valid, accurate and complete when   

 compared to the source information or evidence provided.

Policy and regulation

Usefulness of reported performance information

37. the fmppi requires that the indicators should be well defined by having clear definitions so that data can be  

 collected consistently and is easy to understand and use. all of the indicators for the objective were not well defined.

38. the fmppi requires that the targets should be specific in clearly identifying the nature and required level of  

 performance. all of the targets for the objective were not specific.

Reliability of reported performance information

39. the fmppi requires auditees to have appropriate systems to collect, collate, verify and store performance   

 information to ensure valid, accurate and complete reporting of actual achievements against planned objectives,  

 indicators and targets. i was unable to obtain the information and explanations i considered necessary to satisfy  

 myself as to the reliability of the reported performance information.

Additional matter

40. i draw attention to the following matter:

Achievement of planned targets

41. refer to the annual performance report on page(s) 80 to 81 for information on the achievement of the planned  

 targets for the year. this information should be considered in the context of the material findings on the   

 usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for the selected objectives reported in   

 paragraphs 23 to 39 of this report.

Compliance with legislation

42. i performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had complied with applicable legislation   

 regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. my findings on material compliance  

 with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in terms of the paa, are as follows:
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Strategic planning and performance management

43. the corporate plan did not include the strategic objectives and outcomes agreed upon by the executive authority  

 in the shareholder’s compact or key performance measures and indicators for assessing the entity’s performance  

 in delivering the desired outcomes and objectives as required by treasury regulation 29.1.1 (c).

Financial statements, performance and Annual Reports

44. the accounting authority did not submit the approved financial statements for auditing within two months after  

 the end of financial year, as required by section 55(1)(c)(i) of the pfma.

45. the financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial  

 reporting framework and/or supported by full and proper records as required by section 55(1) (a) and (b) of the  

 pfma and section 29(1)(a) of the companies act of south africa. certain material misstatements of non-current  

 assets, current assets, liabilities, revenue and expenditure identified by the auditors in the submitted financial  

 statements were subsequently corrected, however the result of other uncorrected material misstatements and lack  

 of sufficient appropriate audit evidence resulted in the financial statements receiving a qualified audit opinion.

Procurement and contract management

46. goods, works or services were not always procured through a procurement process which is fair, equitable,  

 transparent and competitive as required by the pfma section 51(1)(a)(iii).

Expenditure management

47. the accounting authority did not take effective steps to prevent irregular expenditure and fruitless and wasteful  

 expenditure, as required by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the pfma.

Consequence management

48. sufficient appropriate audit evidence could not be obtained that effective and appropriate disciplinary steps were  

 taken against all officials who incurred or permitted irregular expenditure in the prior year, as required by section  

 51(1)(e)(iii) of the pfma.

Asset management

49. proper control systems to safeguard and maintain assets were not implemented throughout the financial year, as  

 required by sections 50(1)(a) and 51(1)(c) of the pfma.

Internal control

50. i considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, performance report and compliance  

 with legislation. the matters reported below are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies that  

 resulted in the basis for a qualified opinion, the findings on the performance report and the findings on   

 compliance with legislation included in this report.
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Leadership

51. ongoing monitoring and supervision undertaken to enable management to determine whether internal controls  

 over financial reporting are present and functioning were not adequate, which led to material adjustments to  

 the annual financial statements, material findings with reported performance information and non-compliance  

 with legislation. the financial and cash flow concerns which delayed the finalisation of the prior year annual  

 report caused a further delay in implementing corrective actions to prevent previous material misstatements in  

 the financial statements and compliance with legislation. the newly appointed accounting authority of the entity  

 should set the right tone at the top that demands clean administration of its executive team and implementation  

 of approved policies and procedures.

Financial and performance management

52. the information systems used for recording and processing of transactions were not effectively and efficiently  

 used to produce reliable information. the entity did not interrogate data received from these systems in   

 order to ensure that it produces accurate and reliable information to support the financial statements and   

 reported performance information. i experienced difficulties (delays in submitting, and the unavailability   

 of, requested information) during the audit due to poor recordkeeping in certain areas and the lack of adequate  

 reconciliations that are reviewed by the entity.

Governance

53. a comprehensive combined assurance plan which addresses the risks highlighted by internal and external audits  

 has not been monitored effectively to ensure that recommendations are being implemented.

pretoria

14 august 2015
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2015

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014 Restated 2013 Restated

Assets

Non-CurrentAssets

property,plant and equipment 3 496 544 980 502 470 611 206 904 070

intangible assets 4 - 397 150 1 088 659

other financial assets 5 - - 73 641 660

deferred tax 6  221 626 873 170 240 678 159 122 113

718 171 853 673 108 439 440 756 502

Current Assets

inventories 7 128 511 547 175 178 302 85 582 349

trade and other receivables 9 (825 775 015) 825 345 892 721 135 483

other financial assets 5 - 75 112 192 -

current tax receivable 17 - 75 410 097 106 344 272

cash and cash equivalents 10 23 921 645 73 017 22 575 998

978 208 207 1 151 119 500 935 638 102

Total Assets  1 696 380 060 1 824 227 939 1 376 394 604

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

share capital 11 501 837 518 501 837 518 501 837 518

reserves 356 954 972 356 954 972 356 954 972

accumulated loss (802 956 078)  (670 598 441) (660 377 058)

 55 836 412 188 194 049 198 415 432

Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities

other financial liabilities 13 - 200 000 000 200 000 000

Current Liabilities

trade and other payables 16 809 615 045 807 875 799 594 878 366

other financial liabilities 13 300 000 000 100 000 000 -

provisions 14 296 469 289 254 763 621 159 319 046

neutrality advance 15 234 459 314 177 266 915 177 266 915

bank over draft 10 - 96 127 555 91 514 845

1 640 543 648 1 436 033 890 977 979 172

Total Liabilities 1 640 543 648 1 636 033 890 1 177 979 172

Total Equity and Liabilities 1 696 380 060 1 824 227 939 1 376 394 604
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

   

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

revenue

other income

18 2 591 494 154 2 562 802 770

19 15 257 136 24 892 494

operating expenses (2 592 039 635) (2 613 119 551)
operating profit(loss) 20 14 711 655 (25 424 287)

investment revenue 21 7 122 773 8 286 366

depreciation and amortisation (113 911 880) (120 234 745)

fair value adjustments 22 (10 359 711) (11 261 636)

impairment of assets 23 (62 163 941) 149 337 309

proceeds on sale of assets 10 984 185 46 053

finance costs 24 (30 126 913) (22 089 008)

Loss before taxation (183 743 832) (21 339 948)

taxation 25 51 386 195  11 118 565

(Loss)profit for the year (132 357 637) (10 221 383)

other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive(loss) income for the year (132 357 637) (10 221 383)

Statement of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand Share 
capital

Share
Premium  

Total share 
Capital

Shareholder 
Loan

Accumulated 
loss

Total equity

opening balance as previously 
reported

452 501 837 066 501 837 518 356 954 972 (657 694 037) 201 098 453

prior year adjustments (2 683 021) (2 683 021)

Balance at 01 April 2013 as 
restated

452 501 837 066 501 837 518 356 954 972  (660 377 058) 198 415 432

profit for the year - - - - 59 751 243 59 751 243

other comprehensive income - - - - - -
Total comprehensive Loss for 
the year

- - - - 59 751 243 59 751 243

opening balance as previously
reported

452 501 837 066 501 837 518 356 954 972  (863 472 612) (4 680 122)

prior year adjustments - - - - 192 874 168 192 874 168

Balance at 01 April 2014 as
restated

452 501 183 066 501 837 518 356 954 972 (670 598 441) 188 194 049

loss for the year - - - - (132 357 637) (132 357 637)

other comprehensive income - - - - - -
Total comprehensive Loss for
the year

- - - - (132 357 637) (132 357 637)

Balance at 31 March 2015 452 501 837 066 501 837 518 356 954 972 (802 956 078) 55 836 412

Note(s) 11 11 11 12

99



Statement of Cash Flows

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities

cash(used in)generated from operations 27 33 135 844 66 905 991

interest income  7 122 773 8 286 366

finance costs (30 126 913) (22 089 008)

tax(paid)received 27 75 410 097 -

Net cash from operating activities 85 541 801 53 103 349

Cash flows from investing activities

purchase of property,plant and equipment 3 (110 642 123) (180 246 020)

sale of property, plant and equipment 3 1 787 730 1 519 564

purchase of other intangible assets 4 - (68 104)

sale of financial assets 75 112 192 (1 470 532)

proceeds on sale of assets 10 984 185 46 053

Net cash from investing activities (22 758 016) (180 219 039)

Cash flows from financing activities

repayment of other financial liabilities - 100 000 000

movement in neutrality advance 57 192 399 -

Net cash from financing activities 57 192 399 100 000 000

Total cash movement for the year 119 976 184 (27 115 690)

cash at the beginning of the year (96 054 539) (68 938 848)

Total cash at end of the year 10 23 921 645 (96 054 538)

Accounting Policies

1. Presentation of annual financial statements

the annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards, and the

companies act 71 of 2008 and the public finance management act. the annual financial statements have been prepared on

the historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. they are presented in south african

rands.

these accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

the preparation of the financial statements in conformity with ifrs requires the use of certain accounting estimates that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. it also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of 

applying the company’s accounting policies. the areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 

judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

in preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. use of available information and the

application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. actual results in the future could differ from these 

estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements. significant judgements include: 

Trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables

the company assesses its trade receivables, held to maturity investments and loans and receivables for impairment at the 

end of each reporting period. in determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the company 

makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a financial asset.

Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete stock

an allowance for stock to write stock down to the lower of cost or net realisable value. management have made estimates of

the selling price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items.

Impairment testing

the recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value 

in use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. these calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions.

Useful lives, depreciation method and residual values of property, aircraft and equipment

the company assesses the useful lives, depreciation method and residual values of property, plant and equipment at each

reporting date. the useful lives of other assets and the depreciation method remained unchanged as they were deemed to

have remained appropriate.

the company assesses the useful lives and amortisation method of intangible assets at each reporting date, during the year

under review the useful lives and amortisation method remained unchanged as they were deemed to be appropriate..

Maintenance reserves

maintenance reserves (prepayments made to lessors during the term of the lease contract, in anticipated maintenance 

events), if unutilised at the end of the lease term, are not refundable.  the company estimates the unutilised balance that 

is likely to remain at the end of the lease term based on planned events and assumed consumed life of the leased aircraft 

and their components between year-end and lease expiry, and uses this estimate as the basis for the valuation of the 

maintenance reserve provision.  the recognition of the maintenance reserves assets and value thereof is subject to critical 

judgment by management.
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Provisions

provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. additional disclosure 

of these estimates of provisions are included in note 14 - provisions.

1.1   Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. there are many

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 

the company recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 

due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences 

will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

the company recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that 

the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. assessing the recoverability of deferred income 

tax assets requires the company to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates 

of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each 

jurisdiction. to the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the 

company to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

1.2   Property, Plant and Equipment

property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the company holds for its own use or for rental to others and which

are expected to be used for more than one year.

an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits

associated with the item will flow to the company, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. property, plant and

equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable 

to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and 

adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment

are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the company and 

the cost can be measured reliably. day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are 

incurred.

property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment

losses, except for land which is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. depreciation is charged

to write off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best

reflects the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the company. leased assets are depreciated in a

consistent manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term. depreciation is not charged to an asset if

its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying amount. depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the

date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.
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the useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item                                                                                                        Depreciation method        Average useful life

plant and machinery                                                                               straight line                         5 years

furniture and fixtures                                                                              straight line                        3 years

motor vehicles                                                                                         straight line                       

•	 technical                                                                                                                               10  years

•	 non-technical                                                                                                                             5  years

it equipment                                                                                           straight line                      3  years

leasehold improvements (limited to the shorter of the lease term or 
useful life of the component)

straight line                     20 years

aircraft

•	 air frames straight line                    20 years

•	 interior seats straight line                    8 years

•	 Engines straight line                    20 years

•	 Engine overhauls straight line                    5 years

•	 rotables(limted to the shorter of the cycles or useful life) straight line                    5 to 20 years

•	 c checks straight line                    2 years

•	 landing gears straight line                    10 years

the residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. if the

expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is

depreciated separately.

the depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another

asset. 

impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. 

When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated 

recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line 

with the recoverable amount.

 an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 

from its continued use or disposal. any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 

item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 

carrying amount of the item

103



1.3   Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

 it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity;  

 and

 the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. 

an intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

 it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

 there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;

 there is an ability to use or sell it;

 it will generate probable future economic benefits;

 there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the  

 asset; and

 the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

an intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable 

limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. amortisation is not provided for these 

intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 

impaired. for all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

the amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator 

that the asset may be impaired. as a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised 

over its useful life.

internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised 

as intangible assets.

amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Useful life 

trademarks - design cost, purchased 5 years

computer software, internally generated 3 years
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1.4   Financial instruments

Classification

the company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - held for trading

 held-to-maturity investment

 loans and receivables

classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at initial 

recognition. classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair 

value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement

financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

the company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial

liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not

determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

for financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial

measurement of the instrument.

transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss

Derecognition

financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 

transferred and the company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Loans to Shareholders, Directors, Managers and employees

these financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

 

 Trade and other receivables

trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest rate method. appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or 

loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 

that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 

days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. the allowance recognised is measured as 

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

105



the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 

recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against 

the allowance account for trade receivables. subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 

operating expenses in profit or loss.

trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and Other Payables

trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 

interest rate method.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. these 

are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Bank Overdraft and Borrowings

bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 

using the effective interest rate method. any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement 

or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the company’s accounting 

policy for borrowing costs.

1.5   Tax

Current Tax Assets and Liabilities

current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. if the amount already paid in 

respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered 

from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period.

Deferred Tax Assets And Liabilities

a deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither

accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

a deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 

will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. a deferred tax asset is not recognised 

when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).
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deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

end of the reporting period.

Tax Expenses

current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to 

the extent that the tax arises from:

 a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or

 a business combination.

current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are 

credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or 

charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.6   Leases

a lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. a lease 

is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance Leases – Lessee

finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 

value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. the corresponding liability to 

the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

the discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the company’s incremental 

borrowing rate.

the lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability.the finance 

charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance 

of the liability.

Operating Leases – Lessee

operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. the difference between 

the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. this liability 

is not discounted.

any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

 

1.7   Inventories

inventories consist of consumable spares in stockholding to support technical maintenance. inventories are measured at 

the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 

and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

the cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition.

the cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services produced and segregated for 

specific projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.

the cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted average cost formula. the same cost formula is used for all inventories 

having a similar nature and use to the entity.

1.8   Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Disposal Groups

non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 

transaction rather than through continuing use. this condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and 

the asset or disposal groups is available for immediate sale in its present condition. management must be committed to the 

sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

non-current assets held for sale or disposal group are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value costs 

less to sell.

a non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised while it is classified as held for sale, or while it is part of a disposal 

group classified as held for sale.

interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are recognised in 

profit or loss.

1.9   Impairment Of Assets

the company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 

if any such indication exists, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the company also:

 tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment  

 annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. this impairment test is performed during  

 the annual period and at the same time every period.

 tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

if there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. if it 

is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 

in use.

if the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. that reduction is an impairment loss.
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an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss. any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

an entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods 

for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. if any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amounts of those assets are estimated.

 

the increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 

prior periods.

a reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill 

is recognised immediately in profit or loss. any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 

increase.

1.10 Share Capital And Equity

an equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 

liabilities.

ordinary shares are classified as Equity.

1.11 Employee Benefits

Short-term Employee Benefits

the cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 

vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in 

which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

the expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 

their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

the expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 

obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.12 Provisions And Contingencies

provisions are recognised when:

 the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

 it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;  

 and

 a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
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the amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Where 

some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the

reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 

the entity settles the obligation. the reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. the amount recognised for the 

reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. the timing of the outflows of the provisions are uncertain.

a constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity:

 has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:

 the business or part of a business concerned;

 the principal locations affected;

 the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for terminating their services;

 the expenditures that will be undertaken; 

 when the plan will be implemented; and

 has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement  

 that plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.

contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. contingencies are disclosed in note 29.

1.13 Revenue

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with 

the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. 

the outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the company;

 the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and

 the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue shall be 

recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

revenue is classified under these categories:

 passenger revenue;

 cargo revenue;

 Voyager revenue; and

 fuel levy.

revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable 

for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value 

added tax.

interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

1.14 Borrowing Costs

borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 

capitalised
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as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. the amount of borrowing costs 

eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:

 actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any  

 temporary investment of those borrowings.

 Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of  

 obtaining a qualifying asset. the borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

 expenditures for the asset have occurred;

 borrowing costs have been incurred, and

 activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.

capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or 

sale are complete.

all other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 

1.15 Translation Of Foreign Currencies

Foreign currency transactions

a foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the 

spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

at the end of the reporting period:

 foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;

 non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the  

 exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and

 non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates  

 at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from 

those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual financial statements are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, any 

exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a 

gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised 

in profit or loss.

cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in rands by applying to the foreign currency amount 

the exchange rate between the rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.
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1.16 Maintenance Reserves Impairment Provision

maintenance reserve prepayments unused at the expiry of the lease term of the aircraft are not refundable.  the company 

estimates the unused balance that is likely to remain at the end of the lease term based on planned events and assumed 

consumed life of the leased aircraft and their components between year end and the lease expiry date and uses this estimate

as the basis for valuation of the maintenance reserve impairment provision.  the recognition of the maintenance reserve 

assets and values thereof are subject to critical judgments followed by management.

1.17 Maintenance Plans (Including Power By The Hour Agreements)

the company raises a provision for the restoration of leased aircraft in accordance with the lease contracts.  the prepayment 

made at inception of the lease is recognised as an asset and is written off/wound down against the provision as maintenance 

of the relevant aircraft is incurred.

1.18 Irregular, Fruitless And Wasteful Expenditure

irregular expenditure was incurred as the procurement processes were not adhered to in the procurement of such goods 

and services.

section 1 of the pfma, as amended, defines irregular expenditure as expenditure, other than unauthorised expenditure, 

incurred in contravention of or that is not incurred in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation and 

defines fruitless and wasteful expenditure as expenditure was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 

care been exercised.

all unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is accounted for in profit/loss in the period in which they 

are identified.

1.19 Neutrality Advance

the determination of the pre-payment to sa Express is adjusted quarterly to provide cash neutrality to both south african 

airways and sa Express airways, to compensate the company for the loss of interest and cashflow impact caused by the 

delay in receiving revenue.

 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2. New Standards And Interpretations

2.1  Standards and Interpretations Effective And Adopted In The Current Year

in the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 

financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to IAS 36: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

the amendment to ias 36 impairment of assets now require:

 disclosures to be made of all assets which have been impaired, as opposed to only material impairments,

 the disclosure of each impaired asset’s recoverable amount, and
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 certain disclosures for impaired assets whose recoverable amount is fair value less costs to sell in line with the  

 requirements of ifrs 13 fair Value measurement.

the effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2014.

the company has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2015 annual financial statements. the impact of the 

amendment is not material.

2.2   Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Effective

the company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and 

are mandatory for the company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 april 2015 or later periods:

Amendments To IAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions.

the amendment relates to contributions received from employees or third parties for defined benefit plans. these 

contributions could either be discretionary or set out in the formal terms of the plan. if they are discretionary then they 

reduce the service cost. those which are set out in the formal terms of the plan are either linked to service or not. When 

they are not linked to service then the contributions affect the remeasurement. When they are linked to service and to the 

number of years of service, they reduce the service cost by being attributed to the periods of service. if they are linked to 

service but not to the number of years’ service then they either reduce the service cost by being attributed to the periods 

of service or they reduce the service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.

the effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014. the company expects to adopt the 

amendment for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements. the impact of this amendment is currently being 

assessed.

 Amendment to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Annual improvements project

the amendment adjusts the option to proportionately restate accumulated depreciation when an item of property, plant and 

equipment is revalued. instead, the gross carrying amount is to be adjusted in a manner consistent with the revaluation of 

the carrying amount. the accumulated depreciation is then adjusted as the difference between the gross and net carrying 

amount. the effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014.

the company expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements. the impact of this 

amendment is currently being assessed.

Amendment to IAS 24: Related Party Disclosures: Annual improvements project

the definition of a related party has been amended to include an entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, which 

provides key management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity (“management 

entity”). disclosure is required of payments made to the management entity for these services but not of payments made 

by the management entity to its directors or employees.

the effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014. the company expects to adopt the 

amendment for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements. the impact of this amendment is currently being 

assessed.
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Amendment to IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement: Annual improvements project

the amendment clarifies that references to financial assets and financial liabilities in paragraphs 48–51 and 53–56 should 

be read as applying to all contracts within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance with, ias 39 or ifrs 9, regardless 

of whether they meet the definitions of financial assets or financial liabilities in ias 32 financial instruments: presentation.

the effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 July 2014.

the company expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2016 annual financial statements. the impact of this 

amendment is currently being assessed.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation. 

the amendment clarifies that a depreciation or amortisation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity 

that includes the use of the asset is not an appropriate method. this requirement can be rebutted for intangible assets in 

very specific circumstances as set out in the amendments to ias 38.

the effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2016.

the company expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2017 annual financial statements. the impact of this 

amendment is currently being assessed.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. 

ifrs 15 supersedes ias 11 construction contracts; ias 18 revenue; ifric 13 customer loyalty programmes; ifric 15

agreements for the construction of real Estate; ifric 18 transfers of assets from customers and sic 31 revenue - barter

transactions involving advertising services.

the core principle of ifrs 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services.

an entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:

 identify the contract(s) with a customer;

 identify the performance obligations in the contract;

 determine the transaction price;

 allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract;and

 recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. ifrs 15 also includes extensive new  

 disclosure requirements.

the effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2017.

the company expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2018 annual financial statements. the impact of this 

standard is currently being assessed.
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3. Property, Plant and Equipment

2015 2014
Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated  
depreciation

Carrying value Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated   
depreciation

Carrying 
value

leashold improvements 
- aircraft

200 928 757 (78 480 878) 122 447 879 148 494 722 (38 830 621) 109 664 101

plant and machinery 33 160 265 (28 153 449) 5 006 816 31 885 147 (26 748 066) 5 137 081

motor vehicles 3 595 252 (3 449 557) 1 45 695 3 595 252 (3 393 223) 202 029

rotables 384 799 554 (114 697 631) 270 101 923 364 621 490 (86 289 212) 278 332 278

land, buildings and 
structures

1 260 562 (772 228) 488 334 1 257 245 (792 603) 464 642

aircraft 943 638 365 (845 729 449) 97 908 916 923 027 502 (815 053 258) 107 974 244

containers 5 650 (5 109) 541 5 650 (4 826) 824

capital work in 
progress

444 876 - 444 876 695 412 - 695 412

Total 1 567 833 281 (1 071 288 301) 496 544 980 1 473 582 420 (971 111 809) 502 470 611
 

2013
Cost or
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

leasehold improvements - aircraft 65 748 221 (14 186 869) 51 561 352

plant and machinery 28 224 094 (25 682 373) 2 541 721

motor vehicles 3 721 452 (3 366 121) 355 331

rotables 120 961 525 (90 355 303) 30 606 222

land, buildings and structures 1 979 280 (717 219) 1 262 061

aircraft 907 527 930 (787 483 404) 120 044 526

containers 5 650 (4 544) 1 106

capital work in progress 531 751 531 751

Total 1 128 699 903 (921 795 833) 206 904 070

Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - 2015 

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

leasehold improvements 
aircraft

109 664 102 53 629 184 - (1 195 149) (39 650 258) 122 447 879

plant and machinery 5 137 081 913 180 - 361 938 (1 405 383) 5 006 816

motor vehicles 202 029 - - - (56 334) 145 695

rotables 278 332 279 35 252 031 (1 787 730) - (41 694 656) 270 101 924

land, buildings and 
structures 

464 641 55 317 - - (31 624) 488 334

aircraft 107 974 244 20 610 863 - - (30  676 191) 97 908 916

containers 824 - - - (282) 542

capital work in progress 695 412 181 548 - (432 084) - 444 876

502 470 612 110 642 123 (1 787 730) (1 265 295) (113 514 728) 496 544 982
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Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment - 2014 

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Transfers Opening
balance
adjustment

Depreciation Total

leasehold 
improvements aircraft

51 561 352 94 411 613 (1 519 564) (208 704) - (34 580 595) 109 664 102

plant and machinery 2 541 721 3 661 053 - 208 704 - (1 274 397) 5 137 081

motor vehicles 355 331 - - - - (153 302) 202 029

rotables 30 606 222 57 685 136 - - 235 210 930 (45 170 009) 278 332 279

land, buildings and 
structures 

1 262 061 5 965 - (728 000) - (75 385) 464 641

aircraft 120 044 526 24 318 592 - - - (36 388 874) 107 974 244

containers 1 106 - - - - (282) 82

capital work in 
progress

531 751 163 661 - - - 695 412

206 904 070 180 246 020 (1 519 564) (728 000) 235 210 930 (117 642 844) 502 470 612

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2013

Opening 
balance

Additions Reversals 
to opening 
balance

Depreciation Impairment 
loss

Total

leasehold improvements 
aircraft

25 967 025 25 803 031 - (208 704) - 51 561 352

plant and machinery 2 137 522 834 231 - (430 032) - 2 541 721

motor vehicles 248 649 264 900 (41 221) (116 997) 355 331

rotables 62 373 573 28 965 634 - (43 789 406) (16 943 579) 30 606 222

land, buildings and 
structures 

590 618 780 000 - (108 557) 1 262 061

aircraft 127 742 466 83 878 065 - (91 576 005) - 120 044 526

containers 1 389 - - (283) 1 106

capital work in progress 141 236 390 515 - - - 531 751

219 202 478 140 916 376 (41 221) (136 229 983) (16 943 579) 206 904 070

Changes in estimates

the company reassesses the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment at the end of each

reporting period, in line with the accounting policy and ias 16 property, plant and equipment. these assessments are based

on historic analysis, benchmarking, and the latest available and reliable information. the average useful lives of rotables 

have been assessed as based on this analysis, the useful lives of rotables have been revised from 5 to 20 years. the impact 

of the change is a reduction in the annual depreciation charge. a register containing the information required by regulation 

25(3) of the companies regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.
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4. Intangible Assets

2015 2014

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying value

computer packages -
internally generated

9 131 416 (9 131 416) - 9 131 416 (8 734 266) 397 150

uniform design 
purchased

- - - 850 000 (850 000) -

Total 9 131 416 (9 131 416) - 9 981 416 (9 584 266) 397 150

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying value

computer packages - internally generated 7 231 025 (6 468 199) 762 826

uniform design - purchased 850 000 (524 167) 325 833

Total 8 081 025 (6 992 366) 1 088 659

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2015

Opening 
balance

Amortisation Total

computer packages -
internally generated

397 150 (397 150) -

Reconciliation of Intangible Assets - 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Transfers Amortisation Total

computer packages - internally generated 762 826 68 104 1 832 286 (2 266 066) 397 150

uniform design - purchased 325 833 - - (325 833) -

1 088 659 68 104 1 832 286 (2 591 899) 397 150
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Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2013

Opening 
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

computer packages - internally generated 2 704 521 108 591 (2 050 286) 762 826

uniform design - purchased 495 833 - (170 000) 325 833

3 200 354 108 591 (2 220 286) 1 088 659

5. Other Financial Assets

2015 2014 2013

Held to maturity

standard bank investment
this investment is held for a fixed term ending march 2015, at a fixed rate of 
Jibar +.99 basis points.  the cumulative interest received will add to the in-
vestment until the investment nominal figure reaches r75 million.  thereafter 
it will be transferred to working capital.
 

- 75 112 192 -

standard bank investment - - 73 641 660

- 75 112 192 73 641 660

Non-current assets
held to maturity

- - 73 641 660

Current assets
held to maturity

- 75 112 192

- 75 112 192 75 112 192

Fair Value of Held to Maturity Investments

the company has not reclassified any financial assets from cost or amortised cost to fair value, or from fair value to cost or 

amortised cost during the current or prior year.

there were no gains or losses realised on the disposal of held to maturity financial assets in 2015 and 2014, as all the 

financial assets were disposed of at their redemption date.

the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair of each class of loan mentioned above.  the company 

does not hold any collateral as security.

the standard bank investment reached maturity and the funds were paid back to the company before 31 march 2015.

6. Deferred tax

Deferred Tax Liability

the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and the law allows net 

settlement. therefore, they have been offset in the statement of financial position as follows:
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2015 2014 2013
Deferred tax asset 221 626 873 170 240 678 159 122 113

reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)

at beginning of year
deferred tax asset not previously raised

170 240 678 159 122 113
-

-
148 265 236

taxable/(deductible) temporary difference movement on fixed assets 2 913 042 (72 442 134) (3 702 579)

taxable/(deductible) temporary difference on provisions 27 396 555 8 956 759 60 044 568

taxable/(deductible) temporary difference on intangible assets (661 543) (468 908) (48 148)

taxable/(deductible) temporary difference on prepayments (22 232 400) (11 836 840) (18 326 644)

originating temporary difference on accrual of interest on tax 2 677 830 (827 579) (1 850 251)

(originating)/reversing difference on amounts received in advance
originating temporary difference on maintenance reserves

16 013 872
-

-
-

-
(19 879 427)

originating temporary difference on as se sed loss 25 278 839 72 704 864 27 017 048

adjustment of deferred tax asset not previously raised -- 15 032 403 (32 397 690)

221 626 873 170 240 678 159 122 113

Recognition of Deferred Tax Asset

an entity shall disclose the amount of a deferred tax asset and the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition, when:

 the utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising from  

 the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences; and

 the entity has suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the deferred  

 tax asset relates.

a deferred tax asset has been recognised in the current year as future taxable profits will be available against which the 

deferred tax asset will be utilised.  this is based on forecasts prepared by management, which show that the company will 

make taxable profits in the future.  based on the company’s 20/20 strategy, the funding plan and Whole of state strategy, 

the company will be making taxable income that will be utilised against the assessed loss.

7. Inventories

2015 2014 2013

inventories 128 511 547 175 178 302 105 997 534

128 511 547 175 178 302 105 997 534

inventories (write-downs) - - (20 415 185)

128 511 547 175 178 302 85 582 349

in the current year, an exercise was performed to correct the valuation issues surrounding inventories this resulted in a

decrease of r62 163 940.65. prior year was increased by r17 294 890.17. these adjustments are

reflected under impairment of assets. inventories are shown above at the valuation after taking into account the impairments.

8. Loans to Directors, Managers and Employees

the company did not issue any loans to directors, managers and employees.
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9. Trade and Other Receivables

2015 2014 2013
trade receivables 398 927 347 457 665 830 400 638 502

Employee costs in advance 5 582 310 6 179 110 7 472 911

aircraft restoration costs 287 860 031 254 763 621 159 319 046

deposits 32 906 420 29 644 603 23 507 320

Vat 3 667 401 19 387 827 21 774 418

maintenance reserves 112 207 735 84 610 710 131 388 970

provision:maintenance reserves write-down (47 407 855) (47 407 855) (49 778 202)

prepayments 32 031 626 20 502 046 26 812 518

825 775 015 825 345 892 721 135 483

the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. the company 
does not hold any collateral as security.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired

the ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

2015 2014 2013

1 month past due 2 507 671 1 823 267 7 248

2 months past due 426 131 - -

3 months past due 12 586 450 7 932 115 555 876

Trade and other receivables impaired

as of 31 march 2015, trade and other receivables of r 1 937 893 (2014: r 1 788 345 ; 2013: r 1 689 531) were impaired and
provided for. 

the amount of the provision was r (1 937 893) as of 31 march 2015 (2014: r (1 788 345) ; 2013: r (1 697 232).

Prepayments

prepayments-aircraft restoration costs relate to restoration costs for leased aircraft, these are paid to pratt & Whitney, per
contract with them, who will perform the maintenance as required.

Aircraft restoration cost

2015 2014 2013
284 409 759 244 033 358 159 319 046

Reconciliation of maintenance reserve

2015 2014 2013
opening balance 37 202 855 81 610 768 131 388 970

provision for impairment - (47 407 853) (49 778 202)

amounts written off as uncollectable -- (68 234 774) -

utilised during the year (1 579 650) -

unwinding of discount - (10 940 288)

prior period adjustment - 10 940 285

provided during the year 29 176 675 71 234 717

64 799 880 37 202 855 81 610 768
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10.   Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

2015 2014 2013

cash on hand 72 934 73 017 72 954

bank balances

short-term deposits

23 848 711
-

-
-

-
22 503 043

bank overdraft - (96 127 555) (91 514 845)

23 921 645 (96 054 538) (68 938 848)

Current assets 23 921 645 73 017 22 575 998

Current liabilities - (96 127 555) (91 514 845)

23 921 645 (96 054 538) (68 938 847)

the total amount of undrawn facilities available for future 

operating activities and commitments

92 101 400 20 444 825 24 485 155

the loan facility from nedbank limited is secured by a guarantee from the shareholder.

11.   Share capital

Authorised

2015 2014 2013
1 000 ordinary shares of r1 each 1 000 1 000 1 000

Issued

452 ordinary shares of r1 each 452 452 452

share premium 501 837 066 501 837 066 501 837 066

501 837 518 501 837 518 501 837 518

12.   Shareholder Loan

capital reserves comprise of an interest free loan (department of public Enterprises), where the company has no contractual 
obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to the shareholder.  the instrument will or may be settled in the issuer’s own 
equity instrument, if ever called upon.
a perpetual guarantee of r121 000 000 has been received from the shareholder to ensure that the company remains solvent.

2015 2014 2013

Shareholder loan 356 954 972 356 954 972 356 954 972
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13.   Other Financial Liabilities

Held at Amortised Cost

2015 2014 2013
nedbank limited

the loan represents a revolving credit facility payable as follows: 

r100 million in June 2015; r50 million in october 2015, r50 million 

in december 2015 and the remaining r100 million in march 2016.  

the interest on the loan is payable quarterly at a rate of 7.3 %.

300 000 000 300 000 000 300 000 000

Non-Current Liabilities
at amortised cost

- 200 000 000 200 000 000

Current Liabilities
at amortised cost 

300 000 000 100 000 000

300 000 000 300 000 000 200 000 000

14.   Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2015

Opening balance Additions Total

computer packages - internally generated 254 763 621 41 705 668 296 469 289

Reconciliation of provisions - 2014

Opening balance Additions Total

aircraft restoration 159 319 046 95 444 575 254 763 621

Reconciliation of provisions - 2013

Opening balance Additions Total

aircraft restoration 139 948 544 19 370 502 159 319 046

the provision for aircraft restoration relates to estimated restoration costs that the company is expected to carry out during the term 
of the lease contract and also at the end of the operating leases.  the company has entered into a contract with pratt and Whitney, 
who will perform the required maintenance on the aircraft.  there is no expected reimbursement in respect of this provision.

the costs during the term of the lease contract are dependant on flight hours which causes uncertainty as to the timing of the outflow.

15.   Neutrality Advance

the determination of the pre-payment to sa Express airways is adjusted quarterly to provide cash neutrality to both south african 
airways and sa Express airways, to compensate the company for the loss of interest and cashflow  impact caused by the delay in 
receiving revenue.
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2015 2014 2013

Reconciliation of Neutrality advance
opening balance 177 266 915 177 266 915 177 266 915

received during they ear 57 192 399 - -

234 459 314 177 266 915 177 266 915

16.Trade and Other Payables

2015 2014 2013

trade payables 654 109 383 720 762 299 480 483 980

Workmens compensation 1 541 596 1 636 267 1 212 225

grants and subsidies 50 000 000 - -

leave provision 14 842 168 14 352 272 14 923 150

accrued expenses-lease smoothing 76 775 282 54 676 679 41 576 628

accrued salary and wages 9 542 589 9 293 105 9 712 452

accrued interest 832 513 2 716 903 1 705 215

passenger service charge 1 971 514 4 438 274 264 716

809 615 045 807 875 799 549 878 366

17.   Current Tax Payable (Receivable)

the current tax receivable relates to overpayments of provisional taxes made and interest accrued thereon.

2015 2014 2013

opening balance 75 410 097 106 344 272 99 736 232

interest accrued on overpayments of provisional tax 324 722 2 955 640 6 608 040

Written off during the year - (33 889 815) -

received during the year (75 734 819) - -

- 75 410 097 106 344 272

18.   Revenue

2015 2014

passenger revenue 2 516 287 676 2 482 858 692

cargo revenue 16 449 890 16 043 255

release of unutilised air traffic liability to revenue 58 756 588 63 900 823

2 591 494 154 2 562 802 770

19.   Other Income

2015 2014

insurance and other recoveries 3 814 701 3 649 401

sundry income 11 442 435 21 243 093

15 257 136 24 892 494
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20.   Operating Profit (Loss)

operating profit (loss) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges 2015 2014

premises

 contractual amounts 13 263 437 9 714 206

motor vehicles

 contractual amounts 1 923 135 1 118 944

Equipment

 contractual amounts 9 003 083 7 781 630

aircraft

 contractual amounts 336 344 097 286 677 464

360 533 752 305 292 244

2015 2014

Employee costs 589 650 728 552 189 534

21.   Investment Revenue

interest revenue

2015 2014

cash and bank balances 7 122 773 8 286 366

  
total interest income, calculated using the effective interest rate, on financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss 
amounted to r 7 122 773 (2014: r 8 286 366).

22.  Fair value adjustments

2015 2014

foreign exchange revaluations (10 359 711) (11 261 636)

23.  Impairment of assets

impairment of maintenance reserve - (68 234 774)

scrapping arising on subsequent recognition of rotables - (7 513)

inventory write downs and opening balance adjustment (62 163 941) 251 996 973

impairment of tax receivable - (33 889 815)

iimpairment of unutilised tickets  liability - (527562)

(62 163 941) 149 337 309
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24.   Finance costs

2015 2014

interest paid on long-term borrowings 28 624 060 9 538 545

interest paid 1 502 854 12 550 463

30 126 914 22 089 008

total interest expense, calculated using the effective interest rate, on financial instruments not at fair value through profit or

loss amounted to r 30 126 914 (2014: r 22 089 008).

25.   Taxation

Major Components of the Tax Income

2015 2014
Deferred

deferred taxation - current year (51 386 195) (11 118 585)

Reconciliation of the tax expense

reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.

applicable tax rate 28.00 % 28.00 %

permanent differences 0.51 % (4.55)%

previously unrecognised deferred tax asset - % 5.34 %

capital gains tax (0.45)% - %

28.06 % 28.79 %

no provision has been made for 2015 tax as the company has no taxable income. the estimated tax loss available for set off against 
future taxable income is r - (2014: r 631 907 418 ; 2013: r -).

26.   Auditors’ Remuneration

2015 2014

External auditors 2 117 882 4 567 265

internal auditors 1 239 410 1 082 943

3 357 292 5 650 208
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27.   Cash (used in) Generated From Operation

2015 2014

loss before taxation (183 743 832) (21 339 948)

adjustments for:  depreciation and amortisation 113 911 880 120 234 745

impairment of other assets 62 163 941 (183 227 124)

profit on sale of non-current assets and disposal groups (10 984 185) (46 053)

interest received - investment (7 122 773)  (8 286 366)

finance costs 30 126 913 22 089 008

non cash movement - tax receivable - 33 889 815

movements in provisions 41 705 668 95 444 574

non cash flow movement - intangible assets -   (1 832 286)

non cash movement - maintenance reserve - (68 234 774)

non cash flow moevement - other assets - (315 922)

non cash flow movement - transfer of property, plant and equipment 1 265 295 -

other non-cash items - accrual of interest on overpayment of provisional tax - (2 955 640)

Changes in working capital:

inventories 46 666 755 (89 595 953)

trade and other receivables                                                                                                                (429 122) (104 210 409)

trade and other payables                                                                                                                       1 739 246 257 997 434

non cash movement - rotable and consumable valuation                                                                  (62 163 942) 17 294 890

33 135 844 66 905 991

28.   Tax (Paid) Refunded

2015 2014

balance at beginning of the year 75 410 097 106 344 272

impairment of tax receivable - (33 889 815)

interest on overpayment of provisional tax accrued 2 955 640

balance at end of the year (75 410 097)

Cash movement for the year 75 410 097 -

29.   Commitments

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

2015 2014

- within one year 263 992 870 268 968 463

- in second to fifth year inclusive 1 062 020 840 1 098 725 876

- later than five years 144 446 107 298 251 102

1 470 459 817 1 665 945 441

126



sa Express has entered into various lease agreements with third parties in respect of aircraft and premises for its day-to-day 
operations.  the lease periods on aircraft range from three to five years and one to five years on buildings.

30.   Contingencies

litigation is in the process against the company relating to a dispute with a passenger civil damages and is seeking damages of 
r2 300 000. the company’s lawyers and management consider the likelihood of the action against the company being successful 
as unlikely.

south african Express (soc) ltd has taken out the following guarantees with first national bank in order to provide assurance 
should they default with regards to certain terms within the contracts signed:

2015 2014 2013

airports company of south africa 110 822 110 822 110 822

commissioner for customs and Excise 275 000 275 000 275 000

richards bay airport company(proprietary)limited 1 700 516 1 700 526 1 700 526

canadian regional aircraft finance transaction 10 870 720 9 425 203 8 265 716

computers hare 3 057 390 8 162 899 7 158 701

horizon air industries incorporated 10 710 375

lighthouse 5 823 600 5 049 216 4 428 062

air traffic navigation services limited 9 950 000 9 950 000 9 950 000

sanparks - 300 000 -

brit air 18 926 700 16 409 952 -

bombardier 18 198 750 10 519 200 -

68 913 498 61 902 818 42 599 202

south african Express (soc) ltd has taken out the following guarantees with nedbank limited in order to provide assurance should 
they default to certain terms within the contracts signed:

2015 2014 2013

Q400 leasing(soc) limited 20 000 000 20 000 000 20 000 000

lufthansa technik - 5 024 322 4 154 670

20 000 000 25 024 322 24 154 670
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31.   Related Parties

Relationships

Relationships

Shareholder

department of public Enterprises on behalf of the
south african government, incorporated in
accordance with the companies act of the republic
of south africa

Significant third party denel soc limited
saa cargo (proprietary) limited
saa techinical (proprietary) limited
airchefs (proprietary) limited

Members of key Management i ntshanga
m shelley
d allanby
W hermanus
K nkala
m mochele
p mashaba
b van Wyk

Nature of relationships

south african airways (soc) limited and denel (soc) limited are state owned entities and therefore have the same shareholders 
as south african Express airways (soc) limited.  south african airways (soc) limited holds 100 % shareholding in airchefs 
(proprietary) limited, saa cargo (proprietary) limited and saa technical (proprietary) limited.

Terms of related pary receivables

South African Airways SOC Limited

payment in respect of flown revenue and relevant levies and taxes for the given month of operation shall be transferred by
direct bank deposits on the 18th of each month following the month of operation, and if this falls over a weekend, the transfer is
to take place on the following monday. 

South African Airways Cargo (Propietary) Limited

payment in respect of cargo revenue is due 30 days from date of invoice

Terms of related party payables

South African Airways SOC Limited - Fuel

any amounts payable by south african Express to south african airways soc limited shall be invoiced weekly covering all supplier 
invoices processed, and settlement to saa shall be effected within 17 days from date of invoice delivery.

AirChefs (Proprietary) Limited

south african Express airways soc limited shall effect payment to airchefs (proprietary) limited within 30 days after receipt of 
the original invoice and statement.

South African Airways SOC Limited

south african Express airways soc limited shall pay south african airways soc limited in 14 equal monthly installments 
commencing from January 2013 to february 2014.  the said installments shall be payable on or before the 10th day of each month.  
interest on the deferred payments shall be charged at the rate at which south african airways soc limited is charged by standard 
bank limited for its current overdraft facilities.  until such time as the monthly installments commence from January 2013, south 
african Express airways soc limited shall pay, on or before the 10th day of each month, including interest charged, that exceeds 
the r140 million (capped).
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Denel SOC Limited

the capital sum shall bear interest at 8.5 % per annum, compounded monthly and calculated on the reducing balance
outstanding from time to time. south african Express airways soc limited shall pay the capital sum together with the interest
accrued from time to time in six installments.

South African Airways Cargo (Proprietary) Limited

payment will be effected by sa Express to saa cargo 30 days from the date of the original invoice and statement.
south african airways technical (proprietary) limited

payment will be effected by sa Express to saa technical 30 days from the date of the original invoice and statement.

Key management

Key management includes the executive directors and the executive management team. refer to note 31.

Related party balances

Amounts included in Trade receivable (Trade Payable) regarding related parties

2015 2014
south african airways soc limited 274 699 850 322 345 253

south african airways cargo (proprietary) limited 1 575 198 1 512 745

south african airways soc limited (160 067 456 (353 579 384)

south african airways technical (proprietary) limited (10 894 308) (3 474 717)

south african airways cargo (proprietary) limited (105 082) -

airchefs (proprietary) limited (17 439 341) (8 211 445)

denel soc limited   (1 037 416) 1 377 958)

Neutrality advance - Owing (to)by related parties
south african airways soc limited (234 459 314) (177 266 915)

Related party transactions

Purchases from (sales to) related parties
south african airways soc limited                                                                                               (2 575 044 264) (3 064 382 061)

south african airways cargo (proprietary) limited                                                                             (16 449 890) (16 564 475)

denel soc limited                                                                                                                                  2 855 481       3 460 685

airchefs (proprietary) limited 47 199 702 44 804 094

south african airways soc limited 321 390 073 249 836 781

south african airways cargo (proprietary) limited 716 610 621 601

south african airways techinical (proprietary) limited 15 767 098 7 327 520

32.   Directors’ and executive managements’ emoluments

Executive Directors

2015

Emoluments Other  benefits* Pension paid or 

receivable

Total

i. ntshanga 2 243 619 113 908 60 449 2 417 976

m. shelley 233 768 8 799 6 154 248 721

Z. ngwenya 1 011 510 - - 1 011 510

3 488 897 122 707 66 603 3 678 207 129



2014

Emoluments Other  benefits* Pension paid or 

receivable

Total

i. ntshanga 2 243 619 127 492 54 904 2 417 976

Z. ngwenya 1 641 289 102 676 39 035 1 783 000

3 876 869 230 168 93 939 4 200 976

Non-executive

2015

Directors’ fees Total
a. mabizela 624 811 624 811

b. ssamula 342 688 342 688

b. dibate 326 545 326 545

K. nondumo 262 312 262 312

n. moshimane 178 188 178 188

E. mabyana 250 084 250 084

n. gxumisa 326 545 326 545

g. mothema 250 084 250 084

2 561 257 2 561 257

2014

Directors’ fees Total
a. mabizela 702 912 702 912

b. ssamula 347 615 347 615

b. dibate 262 312 262 312

K. nondumo 276 590 276 590

n. moshimane 221 198 221 198

E. mabyana 250 084 250 084

n. gxumisa 276 590 276 590

g. mothema 250 084 250 084

2 587 385 2 587 385

Executive management

2015

Emoluments Other Benefits Pension Fund 

or Receivable

Total

d. allanby 1 581 100 113 082 81 977 1 776 159

W. hermanus 1 809 454 72 935 52 659 1 935 048

K. nkala 1 107 923 27 023 26 810 1 161 756

m. mochele 1 105 163 87 145 57 692 1 250 000

p. mashaba 1 526 918 120 826 32 256 1 680 000

b. van Wyk 1 257 812 71 817 31 409 1 361 038

8 388 370 492 828 282 803 9 164 001
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2014

Emoluments Other Benefits Pension Fund 

or Receivable

Total

d. allanby 1 601 178 94 955 80 025 1 776 158

W. hermanus 1 360 194 92 534 68 541 1 521 269

K. nkala 1 109 204 26 381 26 171 1 161 756

m. mochele 198 450 16 711 14 423 229 584

p. mashaba 1 533 751 71 188 75 061 1 680 000

b. van Wyk 1 264 635 65 742 30 661 1 361 038

7 067 412 367 511 294 882 7 729 805

33.   Prior period errors

2014 previously 
reported

prior year 
adjustments

2014 restated

deferred taxation 235 048 620 (64 807 943) 170 240 677

rotables 158 640 271 (10 145 548) 148 494 723

accumulated depreciation: aircraft 178 646 661 185 974 829 364 621 490

accumulated depreciation: aircraft leased (780 340 964) (21 271 447) (801 612 411)

accumulated depreciation: machinery and equipment (66 004 966) 27 174 345 (38 830 621)

accumulated depreciation: rotables (26 956 771) 208 705 (26 748 066)

consumables (135 525 312) 49 236 100 (86 289 212)

maintenance reserve 157 061 096 17 294 890 174 355 986

sundry debtors 73 670 422 10 940 288 84 610 710

bank revaluation 220 232 871 34 530 750 254 763 621

provision lease return (1 705 301) (572 381) (2 277 682)

Vat head office (219 755 484) (35 008 137) (254 763 621)

trade debtors - (204 748) (204 748)

341 448 419 (475 535) 340 972 884

134 459 562 192 874 168 327 333 730

prior period errors are a result of misstatements not picked up in the prior year.

34. Risk management

Capital risk management

the company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital.

the capital structure of the company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative financial liabilities) 
disclosed in notes 13 cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 10, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholder, return 
capital to shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

the company has an obligation to maintain equity in excess of r1 billion as per the financial institutions (refer to the directors 
report, going concern paragraph).

there have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed 
capital requirements from the previous year.
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Financial risk Management

the company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, 
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

the company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. the company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk 
exposures. risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (company treasury) under policies approved by the 
board. company treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the company’s operating units. 
the board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and 
investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk

the company’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. the company manages liquidity risk 
through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

the table below analyses the company’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. the amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as 
the impact of discounting is not significant.

At 31 March 2015

Less than 1 year
borrowings 300 000 000

trade and other payables 809 615 045

neutrality advance 234 459 314

At 31 March 2014

Less than 1 year Between 1

and 2 years
borrowings - 300 000 000

trade and other payables 807 875 801 -

neutrality advance 177 266 915                      -

bank overdraft 96 127 555 -

Credit risk

credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and trade debtors. the company only 
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing 
basis. if customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses 
the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. individual risk limits 
are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. the utilisation of credit limits is regularly 
monitored. sales to retail customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. credit guarantee insurance is purchased when 
deemed appropriate.
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Foreign exchange risk

the company does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

south african Express airways soc limited has both revenue and expenditure that is foreign currency denominated and this 
provides a natural hedge.  the currency received is kept as a cfc account until required for payment or when the exchange rate is 
beneficial to convert to rand.

fuel cost is dollar driven and this risk is mitigated by the fact that the fuel levy is also linked to the dollar exchange rate.

foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period

Current Assets 

2015 2014

trade and other receivables 792 868 595 795 791 289

cash on hand 23 941 645 73 017

deposits 32 906 420 29 644 603

Liabilities

trade payables 809 615 045 807 875 799

bank overdraft - 96 127 555

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:

usd at financial year end 12.1325 11

average usd for the financial year 11.07 10

the company reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis.

35.   Going Concern

We draw attention to the fact that at 31 march 2015, the company had accumulated losses of r 732 983 452 and that the company’s 
total liabilities exceed its assets by r 125 809 038.

the annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a growing concern. this basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

south african Express airways soc limited was granted an extension of the existing guarantee relating to covenant breaches
and working capital and an additional guarantee for further working capital and asset based finance facilities. the guarantees
were granted subject to certain conditions. the guarantee arrangements from the shareholder will reach capacity on 28
february 2020.

36.   Events After the Reporting Period

b ssamula, K nondumo and n gxumisa resigned from the board of directors.

t abrahams, r naithani, p ramosebudi, g sibiya and n nkabinde were appointed to the board of directors.

b mathebula resigned as the company secretary.
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during may 2015, damages were sustained to an aircraft in the fleet. although a claim has been submitted to the insurer, no
assessment has yet been received. management is of the opinion that it is unlikely that the aircraft will be scrapped.

the directors are not aware of any other material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report

37.   Non Consolidation of Trusts

south african Express soc limited is a capital and income beneficiary of two special purpose Vehicles.
sax partnership trust: a resolution was passed in January 2015 to dissolve this trust, documentation has been submitted to
the master of the high court to inform them of this resolution. at the date of the resolution, the net asset value of the trust was
paid to south african Express soc limited. the trust will remain dormant until confirmation of its dissolution is received from
the master of the high court.

saX number 1 trust: a resolution was passed in  January 2015 to dissolve this trust, documenation has been submttied to
the master of the high court to inform them of this resolution. as the date of the resolution, the projected net asset value.

38.   Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

2015 2014
penalties for late payments 6 612 317 17 007 084

interest on late payments 17 091 015 16 696 450

23 703 332 33 703 534

fruitless and wasteful expenditure for the year are not recovereable as they are due to interest and penalites on late payments
as a result of the cash flow problems experienced during the year.

39. Irregular Expenditure

2015 2014
opening balance 3 407 717 -

Expired contract 9 355 783 -

no contract 180 615 -

no procurement process followed 3 988 100 3 407 717

tender irregularities 3 327 018 -

procurement process not followed (not condoned) 1 625 417 -

contract exceeded (not condoned) 1 558 880 -

condoned (16 851 517) -

6 592 013 3 407 717

irregular expenditure was condoned in July 2015 by the appropriate authority.

the airline has embarked on a process of identifying expenditure on goods and services procured in the course of normal
operations that are valid, but due to the definition of what constitutes irregular expenditure, is deemed as such.

all the expenditure incurred above during the 2014/15 year were for goods and services physically ordered and received, and
the committee responsible for the review of these costs ensured that all these goods and services were received, and that with
the exception of the tender irregularity, had satisfactory explanations as to why they occurred, and that no fraudulent nor
wasteful transactions were incurred in the above list.

appropriate actions were taken in the case of the tender irregularity.

as part of the ongoing improvement plan of the entity relating to internal controls, these processes have been refined to ensure
that compliance is enhanced to ensure irregular expenditure as defined is minimized.

the auditors reviewed the process followed and the condonation thereof by the appropriate officer as stated in the audit
opinion, are satisfied with the outcome of the process and disclosure.
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Country of incorporation and domicile     south africa

Nature of business and principal activities      aviation

Directors        g. mothema
i. ntshanga
b. dibate
m. shelley
t. abrahams
r. naithani
p. ramosebudi
g. sibiya
n. nkabinde

Registered office         2nd floor
         E block offices
         airways park
         1 Jones road
         gauteng
         1627

Business address        2nd floor
         E block offices
         airways park
         1 Jones road
         gauteng
         1627

Postal address         p. o. box 101
         o.r. tambo international airport
         1627

Holding         company department of public Enterpries  
         on behalf of the south african government
         incorporated in accordance with the com 
         panies act of the republic of south africa

Bankers          first national bank a division of firstrand  
         bank limited

Auditors         auditor-general of south africa
         chartered accountants (s.a.)

         registered auditors

Secretary         the company secretary statucor (pty) ltd  

         crisna Erasmus

Company registration number      1990/007412/30

Tax reference number        9466416840

Preparer         the annual financial statements were   
         internally compiled by
         m.r. shelley: chief financial officer
         chartered accountant (s.a)
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